Assessing the role of demersal zooplankton in the food web of shallow coastal ecosystems using stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes

SURE 静岡大学学術リポジトリ Shizuoka University REpository

メタデータ	言語: en	
	出版者: Shizuoka University	
公開日: 2017-12-14		
キーワード (Ja):		
キーワード (En):		
	作成者: Hung, VU Manh	
	メールアドレス:	
	所属:	
URL	https://doi.org/10.14945/00024352	

静岡大学博士論文

Assessing the role of demersal zooplankton in the food web of shallow coastal ecosystems using stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes 炭素・窒素の安定同位体を用いた沿岸浅 海域生態系の食物網における底生動物プラ ンクトンの役割の評価

VU Manh Hung

大学院自然科学系教育部 環境・エネルギーシステム専攻

2017年6月

Acknowledgement

I deeply appreciate my supervisor Prof. Beatriz E. CASARETO and Prof. Yoshimi SUZUKI for giving me the opportunity to conduct my Doctoral course at Shizuoka University. More especially for all the constructive and nice discussions, we had, for their valuable guidance, constant encouragement and for opening my mind in the science thinking, particularly in Marine Science. I am proud to be their student.

I am very grateful to Associate Prof. Hayashizaki K.-I., for his generous helpful, valuable suggestion and scientific guidance, giving me much knowledge in the field of Stable Isotopes Analysis and have accepted me to analyze stable isotope samples in the Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Ecology, School of Marine Biosciences, Kitasato University. I also want to thank Mr. Tamada S. for the supporting the stable isotope analysis.

I also thank the friendship, helpful support and constant encouragement of my colleagues in my Laboratory. I am very thankful to Mr. Uehara S. (Growing Coral Co.) for providing support during the fieldwork. Also, I would like to thank the International Coral Reef Research & Monitoring Center, Ministry of Environment, Ishigaki, Japan and Sesoko Station, Tropical Biosphere Research Center – the University of Ryukyu for providing laboratory facilities.

I would like to thank The Environmental Leaders Program of Shizuoka University Corporation (ELSU), and the Global Coral Reef Conservation Project (GCRC) of Mitsubishi Corporation supported this study. Moreover, this study was conducted under the umbrella of Core-to-Core Program and Asian CORE Program of the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

And last but not least, I am profoundly grateful to my son, my wife and other family members who always beside me, encouraging me and raise me up to become stronger.

VU Manh Hung

Contents

Acknowledgement	i
Contents	iii
List of figures	vi
List of tables	viii
Abbreviations	ix
General Abstract	1
Chapter 1	4
General Introduction	4
1.1 The interconnection between mangrove, seagrass and coral 1 habitats	:eef 4
1.2 Stable isotope application in aquatic food web research	5
1.3 Demersal zooplankton (DZ) in the coastal shallow food web.	
1.4 Research objectives and thesis layout	9
Chapter 2	
Methodology	
2.1 Study sites	
2.2 Sample collection	
2.3 Determining the abundance of DZ	
2.4 Sample treatment	
2.5 Stable isotope measurement	
2.6 Estimation of proportional contribution from food sources	
2.7 Statistical analysis	
Chapter 3	
Determination of the stable isotope fractionation of zooplankton us	sing a
feeding experiment with Artemia salina and the diatom Nitzschia s	p.

Abstract	
3.1 Introduction	21
3.2 Experimental design	24
3.2.1 Microalgae culture for preparation food source	24
3.2.2 Preparation Artemia nauplii	25
3.2.3 Mono-feeding culture experiment of Artemia salina	25
3.2.4 Diet-consumer discrimination factors calculation	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Abundance of Nitzschia sp. in a closed culture system	
3.3.2 The isotopic discrimination of Artemia salina during Mon feeding rearing	<i>o-</i> 27
3.3.3 Trophic fractionation between zooplankton and their food Mono-feeding experiment	<i>in</i> 28
3.4 Discussions and Conclusions	
Chapter 4	
Food sources of demersal zooplankton in the reef lagoon at Bise, O	kinawa,
Japan	
Abstract	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Experimental design	
4.3 Results	41
4.3.1 Demersal zooplankton community	
4.3.2 Dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of demersal zoople and its potential food sources	ankton 42
4.3.3 Proportional contribution of food sources in the diet of den zooplankton	<i>nersal</i> 43
4.4 Discussions and Conclusions	44
4.4.1 Stable isotope signatures and the potential food sources	
4.4.2 Potential food sources of demersal zooplankton	45
	Page iv

Chapter 5	56
Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic level	ls at
Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island, Okinawa, Japan	56
Abstract	56
5.1 Introduction	57
5.2 Experimental design	60
5.3 Results	61
5.3.1 Composition of DZ communities	61
5.3.2 Stomach contents of fishes	62
5.3.3 Isotopic signature of consumers, DZ, and other food sources	63
5.3.4 Proportional distribution of DZ in the diets of higher trophic l	evels63
5.4 Discussions and Conclusions	65
5.4.1 Role of DZ as a potential food source in an estuarine food wel	b 65
5.4.2 Proportional contribution of DZ in the diet of consumers	66
Chapter 6	77
General conclusions	77
6.1. Findings	77
6.2. Further research	78
References	80
Appendices	97

List of figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1. 1 Interconnection between habitats among shallow coastal ecosystem5 Chapter 2

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1 Abundance variation of <i>Nitzschia</i> sp. in a closed system	33
Figure 3. 2 Mean (\pm SD) of dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of Artemia	a
salina and Nitzschia sp. in the Mono-feeding experiment	34
Figure 3. 3 Discrimination of isotopic between <i>Artemia salina</i> and their food source	35

Chapter 4

Chapter 5

List of tables

Chapter 3

Chapter 4

Table 4. 1 Composition, size range, and relative abundance (%) of demersal	
zooplankton captured by emergence traps5	0
Table 4. 2 Demersal zooplankton diversity, abundance and the similarity	
among habitats in Bise lagoon, Okinawa Islands	2
Table 4. 3 Proportional diets of demersal zooplankton in the reef lagoon at Bise,	
Okinawa, Japan	3

Chapter 5

Table 5. 1 Composition, size range, and relative abundance (%) of demersal	
zooplankton captured by emergence traps73	
Table 5. 2 Fish in Mangrove and Lagoon habitats and the average percentage	
of the prey items recorded in their stomach contents in Fukido Estuary74	
Table 5. 3 Proportion of demersal zooplankton and other food sources in the	
diet of fishes in Fukido Estuary75	
Table 5. 4 Proportion of demersal zooplankton and other food sources in the diet	

of macroinvertebrates in Fukido Estuary......76

Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Denote for
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
DON	Dissolve Organic Nitrogen
DZ	Demersal zooplankton
LG	Coral reef lagoon
MG	Mangrove
MCMC	Markov chain Monte Carlo
MPB	Microphytobenthos
PDB	Pee Dee Beleminate
SIA	Stable Isotope Analysis
SG	Seagrass
SG+CR	Seagrass mixed with Coral colonies
TEFs	Trophic Enrichment Factors

General Abstract

The coastal habitats exist somehow isolated from the marine environment. However, they keep significant interactions among interconnected coastal ecosystems. Mangroves, seagrass beds, and coral reef lagoons are examples. Mangroves distribute mainly on estuarine areas, which play a major role as a trap of sediments' runoff. Toward to the sea, seagrass distributes in the subtidal area; they act as a buffer area accumulating sediments and pollutants from runoff of terrestrial zones before reaching coral habitat. Meanwhile, coral reef lagoons protect inshore habitats from the wave action. Overall, mangroves, seagrass beds, and coral reefs lagoons are important marine coastal ecosystems that sustain high biodiversity and are highly efficient at transferring organic matter from primary producers to higher trophic levels. Although, these habitats accumulate a large quantity of non-living organic matter in their sediments in the form of detritus, leaf litter, and decomposed dead organisms; there are few species of consumers can utilize this food source directly. Thus, sediment detritivores and herbivores might be important for connecting these food webs by transferring energy from primary producers to higher trophic levels. Demersal zooplankton (DZ) emerge to the water column at night with high densities in shallow coastal ecosystems (i.e. seagrass, coral reefs, soft bottoms, and kelp beds). Therefore they might play a major role in linking small particles (detritus and primary producers attached to sediments) to planktivores (fishes and other suspended feeders). This study aims to clarify the role of DZ in three shallow coastal ecosystems, using stable isotope analysis in combination with stomach content analysis.

Determination of the proportional contribution of food sources to the diet of consumers by solely the stomach contents show serious limitation because the food is rapidly digested in comparison to the slow digestion of non-living organic matter derived from sediments. Natural stable isotope analysis is a powerful tool to determine the relationship between predators and their food sources. The stable isotope analysis in R (SIAR) isotopic mixing model based on dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope signature was applied to calculate the proportion of food source in the diet of consumers. Stomach content analysis of fishes and invertebrates was used to find out indications of potential food sources. The combination of both methods was applied in this study. Moreover, the biomass and species composition of DZ was also studied in order to evaluate their contribution in each of the studied environments.

The experiment presented in chapter 3 was designed to find out the trophic enrichment factor between *Artemia salina* and its food source, the diatom *Nitzschia* sp. Natural stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Artemia salina* and its food source were measured at different stages of the life cycle of *Artemia salina*. This study demonstrated that isotopic signal of *Artemia salina* reached the equilibrium isotope value at day 25 after hatching and the trophic enrichment factor of *Artemia salina* was determined to mean (\pm SD) 0.0 \pm 0.9 (‰) for Δ^{13} C and 1.0 \pm 0.5 (‰) for Δ^{15} N.

The trophic enrichment factor between zooplankton and its food sources that were determined in chapter 3 was applied to estimate the proportion of potential food sources in the diet of DZ. This study was presented in chapter 4 and conducted the reef lagoon at Bise, Okinawa, Japan, which is composed of a seagrass area and coral heads mixture with seagrass the reef lagoon. The result of stable isotope mixing model highlights the role of organic matter derived from seagrass, particularly seagrass detritus, influencing the abundance of DZ in each specific habitat. Phytoplankton and macro algae also play an important role as a food source for DZ in the lagoon. When comparing the importance of potential food sources, it suggests that DZ prefer on main food source which depending on available sources and their migration among habitat in small spatial scales.

Finally, in Chapter 5, the role of DZ as a food source for higher trophic levels in an estuarine area was discussed, especially with respect to the food preference and size selection of their consumers. The lowest DZ biomass was recorded in mangroves and mainly dominated by smaller organisms because their consumers in this habitat prefer large-sized prey. The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signatures showed that, in mangroves, DZ constituted a higher proportion of the diet of fishes than in lagoon habitats; however, DZ did not play a significant role in the diet of fishes and macroinvertebrates in the lagoon. Consistency among biomass, stomach contents, and the proportions of DZ of all size classes in the diet of mangrove fishes indicated that DZ serve as a major food source. In contrast, fishes in lagoon habitats consumed more crabs, shrimps, and mollusks than DZ. We found that role of DZ as a food source was different in the different habitats.

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1.1 The interconnection between mangrove, seagrass and coral reef habitats

The shallow coastal habitats can exist in isolation because there is a diversity of interaction among habitats, mangrove distributed on coastal zone and estuary areas, which play as a trap sediment. Toward to the sea, seagrass distributes in the subtidal area, they play as a buffer area and accumulate other pollution runoff from terrestrial before they reach coral habitat. Meanwhile, coral protects inshore habitats from wave action from the open sea. Mangrove, seagrass, and coral habitats have long been known for their high diversity, vast productivity and provide various ecosystem services (Nagelkerken, 2009). Although these coastal ecosystems exist in isolation area, they usually occur together in a large-scale which considerable interaction may occur (Mumby and Hastings, 2008; Ogden and Zieman, 1977; Sheaves, 2005; Valentine et al., 2008). According to Ogden and Zieman (1977), cross-ecosystem interactions can mostly be subdivided into biological, chemical, and physical. Previous studies considered the exchange of animals among habitats, mostly feeding migration by fishes among ecosystems (Mcfarland et al., 1979; Ogden and Zieman, 1977; Weinstein and Heck, 1979), spawning and ontogenetic migration by fishes and decapods (Mumby and Hastings, 2008; Nakamura et al., 2007) were also studied. Recently studies also provided clear evidence of animal exchange among habitats using advanced techniques; they have studied at different temporal and spatial scales, example the tidal migration, time scales (daytime, nighttime, and seasons or years) and distance scales (Mumby and Hastings, 2008; Valentine et al., 2008). However, the food sources which main supply for the animal during their migration and ontogenetic stages in each habitat were not well understood.



Increase δ¹³C (‰)



1.2 Stable isotope application in aquatic food web research

The traditional methodology approach to assess aquatic food web including gut and stomach contents analysis, fecal analysis (identify the item contents), observation of the feeding preference of predator both in the field and laboratory (through the behavior of consumers), the dietary items of consumer analysis using DNA barcoding (reference from DNA database), Page | 5

radiotracer (using radio-label as tracer to a food source and following the label through the food chain), immunological (extract antisera which are taxonspecific from organism), and fatty acid application (Kainz et al., 2004; Meier-Augenstein, 2002). Although these methods are useful and have helped to understand the food web structure, they also show various limitations, such as some prey are rapidly digested, whereas another, particularly hard part of preys are slowly digested and remain in the stomach of consumers. Moreover, the gut contents identification is difficult and requires a good taxonomic knowledge of all present organisms and other material. Therefore, comparisons base on gut contents between species may not be accurate and do not reflect clearly the consumer's preference (Michener and Lajtha, 2008). The DNA barcoding method is difficult to identify accuracy of diet qualification because DNA database is limit for all present organisms and DNA consumer is also normally present in the diet sample (King et al., 2008). The radio-labeling has a disadvantage as the statistically significant number of labeled species are difficult to recover and need secure permission to use radioactive isotopes (Michener and Lajtha, 2008). The immunological method cannot be used for large species and is an expensive method with strictly qualitative (Michener and Lajtha, 2008). The ratio of fatty acids in the food items and predator tissue have enjoyed success using and potential to be a major competitor to isotopic analysis in many cases (Michener and Lajtha, 2008).

Stable isotope analysis application in the studies aquatic food web to determine the relationship between predators and their food sources have been increasing and are frequently used to examine the food sources in aquatic food Page | 6

webs (Nakamura et al., 2008; Pasquaud et al., 2010; Tue et al., 2013; Vinagre et al., 2012). Base on the natural isotopic fractionation between consumers and their prey, this method is a useful tool for aquatic food web analysis, especially in the marine ecosystem. Stable isotope analysis provides both, source information with sulfur and carbon isotopic analysis, and trophic level information using stable nitrogen isotope (Michener and Lajtha, 2008). The oxygen and hydrogen also have applied for studies of aquatic food webs, but uncommonly (Zhang et al., 2016). Here we focus on the application of stable carbon and nitrogen isotope to resolve estuarine food web structure.

Stable isotope mixing model uses the mixture isotopic signature to estimate the proportion of sources using mathematical mixing model. Application of isotope mixing model for estimating food source percentage in the aquatic food web is increasingly used for evaluation of the distribution of different potential food sources. Some other existing models such as IsoError, Isocons, and IsoSource can also be coped with multiple sources. However, they cannot incorporate uncertainty and variation (Parnell et al., 2010). Bayesian inference offers the way to reduce the limitations indicated above (Parnell et al., 2013, 2010). Bayesian fashion is formalized in the models MixSIR (Jackson et al., 2009; Moore and Semmens, 2008) and SIAR (Parnell et al., 2010). The SIAR model is a minor difference with MixSIR. SIAR use standard Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) with Metropolis-Hastings steps to update the dietary proportions (Parnell et al., 2013) while MixSIR uses Sample Importance Resampling and SIAR including an overall residual error term lacking from MixSIR (Jackson et al., 2009; Parnell et al., 2010). In the order of Page | 7 our objectives, we apply SIAR V4 an open package (Parnell and Jackson, 2013) of R software (R Core Team, 2015) to calculate the proportion of total diet that was contributed by different food sources, based on the stable isotope values of consumers, the mean and standard deviation (SD) stable isotope values of food sources, and the TEFs of food sources.

1.3 Demersal zooplankton (DZ) in the coastal shallow food web

Demersal zooplankton reside or hide near the substrate during the daytime, and they emerge and spend a short time in the water column during the night-time and return to the substratum before sunrise (Alldredge and King, 1980; Hobson and Chess, 1979; Melo et al., 2010). Studies on demersal zooplankton have shown high abundances emerging at night from seagrass, coral reefs, soft bottoms, and kelp beds (Jayabarathi et al., 2012; Mascart, 2010; Youngbluth, 1982), suggesting that DZ might play a role as a link between lower to higher trophic levels. DZ have high turnover rate and short life cycle (weeks to months). Thus they are quickly responding to organic matter input and close to primary production food sources (Escaravage et al., 1989; Heip et al., 1985; Lebreton et al., 2012). Their secondary production rate was estimated as 9.0 to 29.4 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ (Escaravage et al., 1989). Moreover, DZ was found to be common food items in stomach content of planktonic fishes and shrimps (Coull, 1999; Hyndes and Lavery, 2005). Thus, they may serve as a significant food source for planktivores in shallow water habitats (Melo et al., 2010). However, few studies were dedicated to understanding the role of DZ in these habitats. Thus, the diet of DZ, who are their consumers and how much they are consumed is still unknown.

1.4 Research objectives and thesis layout

The study presented in this thesis aims to clarify the function of demersal zooplankton in the coastal shallow water ecosystem focusing on (1) role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic level and (2) food sources of demersal zooplankton to highlight their function in the linkage from lower to higher trophic levels. The main questions, which motived our objectives in this work are as follows:

- 1. How demersal zooplankton serve as a food source into the estuarine aquatic food web?
- 2. Do consumers prefer demersal zooplankton as a major food source?
- 3. How much proportion of demersal zooplankton contributes in compared against another potential food source in the diet of consumers?
- 4. Does consumer prefer on different body size fraction of demersal zooplankton?
- 5. What is main food source of demersal zooplankton?
- 6. Is there interconnection among habitats in shallow water influencing the food source of demersal zooplankton?

This thesis was represented in 5 chapters to demonstrate the role of demersal zooplankton in the ecosystem shallow water ecosystem in the Southern part of Japan.

Chapter 1 gives an overview of the interconnections among connected habitats in the shallow coastal ecosystem, particularly mangrove forest,

seagrass bed, and coral reef habitat. This chapter provides basic information about the application of Stable Isotope in the study of aquatic food webs. This chapter also gives the reader an overview about demersal zooplankton in the coastal shallow food web.

Chapter 2 talks about methodology, which includes a brief description of the studied site, detail description about the procedure of sample collection, sample treatments and technical information on stable isotope measurement. Moreover, this chapter introduces into the equation and stable isotope mixing model application for demersal zooplankton biomass calculation and estimation of the proportion of food source in the diet of consumers, respectively.

Chapter 3 is a study on stable isotope fractionation of zooplankton in a mono-feeding experiment. This study was conducted to find out the trophic enrichment factor between zooplankton and its food using a feeding experiment with *Artemia salina* and the diatom *Nitzschia* sp. The finding of this study will be applied to estimate the proportion of potential food source in the diet of demersal zooplankton.

Chapter 4 was designed to elucidate the food sources of demersal zooplankton in the shallow water ecosystem, particularly in a reef lagoon at Bise (Okinawa, Japan), which is composed of seagrass bed mixing with coral heads.

Chapter 5 gives a complete picture of the role of demersal zooplankton in the aquatic food web. The role of DZ as a food source for higher trophic levels in an estuarine area was discussed. This study combines stable isotope analysis and stomach content of consumers to clarify the proportional contribution of DZ and other food sources to the diet of fishes and macroinvertebrates in the mangrove and lagoon habitats at Fukido Estuary, Japan. This study demonstrated that demersal zooplankton was important to the diet of fishes in mangrove habitats, with larger size classes being preferred, but did not have a significant role compared to other food sources in the diet of fishes and macroinvertebrates in the lagoon habitat. This difference is attributed to the fact that mangrove habitat is an important nursery and provide a wide range of food for supporting juvenile fish during ontogenetic stages compared to the lagoon habitat.

CHAPTER 2

METHODOLOGY

Chapter 2

Methodology

2.1 Study sites

The mono-feeding experiment for estimating stable isotope fractionation between zooplankton and its food source was conducted at Laboratory of Biogeochemical, Shizuoka University, Japan (Chapter 3). The study on the dietary proportion of demersal zooplankton in the coastal shallow environment was done at Bise, Okinawa Islands, Japan (Chapter 4). The study on the role of demersal zooplankton in estuarine food web was carried out in the Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island, Japan (Chapter 5).

2.1.1 Experiment in Bise, Okinawa Islands, Japan

Seagrasses and corals coexist in reef lagoon at Bise, Okinawa Island (Fig. 2.1). Seagrass bed extends in the shallow nearshore zone of Bise beach and is dominated by *Thalassia hemprichii* with sand and coral rubber substrates. Seagrass habitat (SG) distributes at a distance of 50 m from the beach and from that toward the middle of lagoon about 150 to 200 m seagrass mixtures with coral colonies (mainly branching coral *Montipora digitata*). The coexistence of seagrass and coral with a high density of seagrass and healthy coral is an interesting habitat in Bise reef lagoon; therefore in the present study, this area was selected as the seagrass mixture with coral habitat (SG+CR). Coral habitat (CR) distributes without the presence of seagrass from the middle of the lagoon to reef barrier. Seagrass in the shallow shoreline of the beach acts as a trap of

sediments and accumulates other pollutants from human activity near the beach and terrestrial runoff, which helps to make a clean environment for coral habitat. Meanwhile, coral protects lagoon habitats from the wave's action and currents from the open sea.



Figure 2. 1 Map of the study area at Bise Beach, Okinawa Island, Japan. SG: Seagrass bed habitat, SG+CR: Seagrass and Coral mixture habitat, and CR: Coral habitat

2.1.2 Experiment in Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island, Southern of Japan

Fukido estuary is located on the Itona Coast of Ishigaki Island, at the southern tip of Japan (Fig. 2.2A). We focused on the mangrove (MG) habitat at the mouth of Fukido River and the adjacent coral reef lagoon (LG) habitat, which is dominated by shallow seagrass (SG) followed by a zone where seagrass is mixed with coral colonies (SG+CR). The MG habitat extends from the mouth of the Fukido River (mouth is 10–40 m across) and continues 300 m upstream, covering an area of about 18.7 ha (Kurosawa, 2003). *Rhizophora* Page | 13

stylosa, Bruguiera gymnorrhiza, Kandelia candel, and Lumnitzera racemose dominate the mangrove forest. In the center of the river mouth, the water depth ranges from 0.5 to 1 m at low tide and 1 to 2 m at high tide, where mangrove prop roots are alternately inundated and exposed during the tidal cycle (Nakamura et al., 2008; Shibuno et al., 2008). The seagrass bed (water depth range of 0.5–1 m at low tide and 2–3 m at high tide) extends for about 2.5 km along the coast at a distance of 30 to 120 m offshore and is dominated by *Thalassia hemprichii* (Shibuno et al., 2008). Toward the middle of the lagoon, seagrass mixes with some coral colonies. Branching corals (mainly *Montipora* spp.) and massive corals (especially *Porites* spp.) dominate in this area of coexistence. During the flood tide, seawater passes over a large sand sill across the mouth of the river (Fig. 2.2C) and flows backward, inundating the mangrove forest. During the ebb tide, the water flows out through a small canal across the sand sill to the lagoon area. This sill completely separates mangrove water from lagoon water (Kurosawa, 2003; Nihei et al., 2002).



Figure 2. 2 A: Map of Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki, Okinawa, Japan; B: Emergence trap with a mesh size of 73 μ m. C: Vertical section of the sampling area (LG: Lagoon).

Note: ▲ indicates the position of trap set-up and sampling areas; MG: Mangrove area; SG: Seagrass area and SG+CR: Seagrass mixed with Coral area.

2.2 Sample collection

DZ was collected with a modified "emergence trap" of conical shape, according to Hobson and Chess (1979), using 2 chambered traps with a mesh size of 73 μ m (Fig. 2.2B). Three emergence traps were set-up at SG, SG+CR and CR in Bise reef lagoon (Fig. 2.1) and MG, SG, and SG+CR in the Fukido estuary (Fig. 2.2A). The mouth of each trap was fixed at 5 cm under the sediment surface using soil anchors and was set up from 18:00 to 07:00 of the next day. DZ samples were separated into fractions using sieves; these fractions were: 73 μ m (73 to 100 μ m), 100 μ m (100 to 250 μ m), 250 μ m (250 to 500 Page | 15 μ m), 500 μ m (500 to 1000 μ m), 1000 μ m (1000 to 2000 μ m), and greater than 2000 μ m (> 2000 μ m). Then the fractions were divided into two sub-samples: one for identification, for which zooplankton was fixed in 5% formalin, and one for stable isotope analysis (SIA). SIA samples were examined under the stereomicroscope (SMZ 1000, Nikon Inc., Tokyo, Japan) to remove detritus so as to avoid contaminating the isotopic signal. The SIA samples were then stored at -20 °C until isotopic analysis.

Two bait traps (10 m long and 6 mm mesh size) were set overnight in each area to collect fishes and macroinvertebrates. The muscle tissues of fishes and macroinvertebrates were used for stable isotope analysis because the constant isotopic value of this tissue reflects the isotopic value of food sources utilized over extended periods of time (i.e., several weeks to months) (Herzka, 2005).

The leaves of 1 mangrove species (*Rhizophora stylosa*) and two seagrass species (*Thalassia hemprichii* and *Halodule pinifolia*) were collected by hand in the mangrove and seagrass areas, respectively. Mangrove and seagrass leaves were washed with MQ pure water (Arium[®] 611VF, Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH, Germany) to remove all detritus before it was stored at -20 °C until further treatment.

Phytoplankton samples were collected using a plankton net. In each habitat, 100 L of seawater was pre-filtered using a mesh with a pore size of 73 μ m to remove large material (e.g., detritus, zooplankton). Phytoplankton was captured using a mesh size of 10 μ m. Retained phytoplankton were filtered onto pre-combusted Whatman GF/F filters and were stored at -20 °C.

Aliquots of the surface sediment (upper 2 cm) were sampled to study primary microbial producers. These aliquots were homogenized and stored in Corning tubes (50 ml) at -20 °C.

Microphytobenthos (MPB) may include micro-algal and cyanobacteria, which were collected by scraping the surface of coral rubble from surface sediment (upper 2 cm) near the DZ collection locations. Sediment was washed by MQ pure water and pre-filtered using a mesh with a pore size of 100 μ m to remove infauna. MPB was retained on a mesh size of 20 μ m, then filtered onto GFF pre-combustion and stored at -20° C.

Three sample replicates of epiphytes were sampled on the seagrass leaf blade at SG and SG+CR habitats. Three seagrass leaf blades were collected by hand, then careful transferred in Corning tube (50 ml) immediately after pickup under water. Samples were mixed for 30 s in an MS1 Minishaker at 1000 rpm. The samples were then pre-filtered by a mesh with a pore size of 73 μ m to remove large material (e.g., detritus, sponge). Epiphytes were filtered onto GFF pre-combustion and stored at -20° C.

In each habitat, 10 L seawater was filtered onto GFF pre-combustion and stored at -20° C. Particulate organic matter (POM) retained on GFF filter was kept at -20° C.

2.3 Determining the abundance of DZ

DZ was identified and counted under a stereomicroscope. The abundance of DZ taxa was calculated as the number of individual m⁻² (ind. m⁻²) on the bottom surface area, based on the mouth area of the emergence trap" (see Fig. 1B).

Methodology

2.4 Sample treatment

Sediment was dried at 60 °C in an oven to a constant weight (around 20 h) and was then passed through a sieve with a pore size of 63 μ m to separate out large particles (coarse gravel, mangrove detritus, seagrass roots, and mollusk shells). Sediment powder was homogenized for sediment SIA, and might have contained bacteria, small primary producers, and fine detritus. The litter that remained on the sieve (< 200 μ m) that was derived from mangrove and seagrass was ground to a fine powder for detritus stable isotope analysis. The other SIA samples were dried at 60 °C until a constant weight was reached. Then, the samples were ground to a fine powder.

The homogeneous powder of the SIA samples was divided into two fractions for δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C analysis. The samples for δ^{15} N were stored in a dry box until analysis without acid treatment to prevent acidification affecting the δ^{15} N values (Bunn et al., 1995; Mateo et al., 2008). The samples for δ^{13} C analysis were further treated to remove the lipid content and carbonates. In brief, the lipid content in animal tissue can alter the results and conclusions of δ^{13} C analysis in the aquatic food web and migration studies (Bunn et al., 1995; Focken and Becker, 1998). Thus, in the present study, animal samples were treated to remove lipids following a method modified from Logan et al. (2008). Specifically, dried powder samples were placed in centrifuge tubes to which a solvent with a 2:1 ratio of chloroform: methanol was added, with a volume 3 to 5 times larger than the sample size. Samples were mixed for 30 s in an MS1 Minishaker (IKA[®] Works (Asia) Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia) at 1000 rpm. The samples were then left undisturbed for about 20 min, after which they were Page | 18

centrifuged at $2500 \times g$ for 10 min. The supernatant containing the solvent and lipids was discarded. This process was repeated until there was an entirely clear supernatant. After removing the lipids, the animal tissues were subjected to an acidification procedure to remove carbonates. The samples (animal tissues, sediment, and seagrass leaves) were acidified by dropping a solution of 1 N HCl onto the sample until bubbling ceased (Jacob et al., 2005). Then, the samples were washed three times with Milli-Q water before being dried at 60 °C to a constant weight and ground to a fine powder. DZ samples and phytoplankton trapped on GF/F were fumed with concentrated 12 N HCl in a glass desiccator for 12 h to remove carbonates, and were then dried at 60 °C to a constant weight and ground to a fine powder samples were stored in Eppendorf tubes inside a dry box until analysis.

2.5 Stable isotope measurement

Stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes were analyzed at the Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Ecology, School of Marine Biosciences, Kitasato University, Japan. The samples were dried in an electric oven at 60 °C for six hours before analysis. Subsamples of 0.5 ± 0.07 mg (Mean \pm SD) dry weight for animal tissues and 2.0 ± 0.08 mg (Mean \pm SD) dry weight for DZ were placed in ultrapure tin capsules, and the samples were burned in an elemental analyzer (Flash EA, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Combustion gasses continuously moved through a flow controller (ConFlo, Thermo Fisher), and then the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope compositions were detected with a mass spectrometer (Delta^{plus}XP, Thermo Fisher). L-alanine was used as the

working standard. Repeated measurements of the standard showed a standard deviation of 0.2 % or less. Stable isotope ratios were expressed in δ notation (part per thousand, %) as deviations from international standards according to the following equation:

 $\delta X = (R_{sample}/R_{standard} - 1) \times 1000$

Where X represents ¹³C or ¹⁵N, and R represents isotope ratios ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N, respectively. R_{sample} and $R_{standard}$ are the isotope ratio of the sample and working standard, respectively.

2.6 Estimation of proportional contribution from food sources

The SIAR package (Parnell and Jackson, 2013) of R software (R Core Team, 2015) was used to calculate the proportion of total diet that was contributed by food sources, based on the stable isotope values of consumers, the mean and standard deviation (SD) stable isotope values of food sources, and the trophic enrichment factor (TEF) of food sources.

2.7 Statistical analysis

The Shannon diversity index (H') was calculated to estimate the diversity of the DZ community. One-way ANOVA was performed to test the differences (p < 0.05) in the isotopic values of DZ and their proportion in the diets of consumers. The similarity of DZ community between components habitats in reef lagoon was calculated based on species composition and their abundance using PRIMER V6.

CHAPTER 3

DETEMINATION OF THE STABLE ISOTOPE FRACTIONATION OF ZOOPLANKTON USING FEEDING EXPERIMENT WITH ARTEMIA SALINA AND THE DIATOM NITZSCHIA SP.

Chapter 3

Determination of the stable isotope fractionation of zooplankton using a feeding experiment with *Artemia salina* and the diatom *Nitzschia* sp.

Abstract

The isotopic fractionation from food source to consumer is the cause of difference isotopic ratio between consumer and their prey, which is called Trophic Enrichment Factor (TEF). TEF can apply to calculate the trophic position, food chain length, energy flow between sources and organism production. This study was designed to estimate the TEF between herbivorous zooplankton and its food source using *Artemia salina* and a monoculture of the diatom *Nitzschia* sp. as a food source. *Artemia salina* was hatched in the laboratory under control condition in a growth chamber. *Nitzschia* sp. was cultured to feed *Artemia salina*. Natural stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Artemia salina* and its food source were measured at a different stage of *Artemia salina* in their life cycle. This study demonstrated that isotopic signals of *Artemia salina* reached to equilibrium with its food source at day 25 after hatching and the trophic enrichment factor of *Artemia salina* was determined to mean (\pm SD) 0.0 ± 0.9 (‰) for Δ^{13} C and 1.0 ± 0.5 (‰) for Δ^{15} N. Our results provide a basic tool for studying on zooplankton food web.

3.1 Introduction

Stable isotope analysis is a powerful tool in studies on migration, food web and feeding behavior (Dionne et al., 2016; Fry, 2007; Michener and Kaufman, 2008). Stable isotopes are atoms, which have the same number of protons, and Page | 21 Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

electrons but have different masses (i.e. different neutrons). Thus, heavier isotopes react more slowly in chemical reactions than light isotopes. Depending on the reaction, heavy and light isotopes accumulate in different ratios in the reactive or the products, a phenomenon called isotopic fractionation (Dionne et al., 2016), and it changes according to the relative abundance of isotopes with a different mass. Two kinds of isotope fractionation effects are equilibrium and kinetic (Peterson and Fry, 1987). An equilibrium isotope fractionation occurs in a reversible system where one isotope concentrate in one component, then the component is commonly referred to the concentrated isotope. The kinetic fractionation utilizes energy for the isotopic fractionation. Thus, kinetic isotopic fractionation in nature tends to prefer lighter isotopic to heavier isotopic, because "energy costs" are lower (De Carvalho et al., 2009; Fry, 2007; Vander Zanden et al., 2015; Wikipedia, n.d.).

The isotopic fractionation from food source to consumer is the cause of difference isotopic ratio between consumer and their prey, which is called Trophic Enrichment Factors (TEFs). TEFs can be estimated by feeding an animal for a period long enough to allow its tissues to renew themselves with the elements from the food source (i.e. their isotopic turnover rate), and then by comparing the isotopic ratios between the food source and the animal tissues (Fry & Arnold, 1982; Tieszen et al., 1983; Hobson & Clark, 1992). TEFs are applied to calculate trophic position, food chain length; energy flows between sources and organism production (Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 2001). TEFs are necessary before the use of stable isotope analyses in ecological studies.
Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

consumer and its food source, resulting in the discrimination of stable isotopes due to the physiology and behavior of the consumer (Caut et al., 2009; Boecklen et al., 2011; Philipps et al., 2014). Previous literature reviewed the mean of TEFs variation ranging from -0.7 to 9.2 ‰ for Δ^{15} N with an overall mean (±1 SD) of 2.92 ± 1.78 ‰, and Δ^{13} C value range from -2.1 to 2.8 ‰ with an overall mean (±1 SD) of 0.47 ± 1.23 ‰ among habitats, taxon, type of body part and reason (see summary Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 2001). In recent studies, the fixed TEFs have been used to examine food web, estimate the diet proportion of consumers and trophic level of aquatic ecosystem ranging from 2.6 to 3.4 ‰ and 0 to 1 ‰ for δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C, respectively (França et al., 2011; Fry and Ewel, 2003; Le Loc'h et al., 2008; Lebreton et al., 2012; Nakamura et al., 2007; Post, 2002; Tue et al., 2013).

In order to estimate the dietary proportion of DZ, we may apply the TEFs between zooplankton and its food sources. However, the TEFs value mention above were used to large consumers such as bird, fishes, and mammals. Assessing the isotopic discrimination of zooplankton and their prey is difficult because of they have a life cycle of a few weeks to months, and food sources supplement rapid changed by a physical factor (i.e. currents, tide and season, etc.). Thus, their isotopic turnover rate shows significant variation relies on many factors. Moreover, their body size is small therefore using traditional methods (as stomach content) to elucidate the potential food source is impossible. For this reason, this chapter aims to estimate the isotopic discrimination between zooplankton and its food source to find out the TEFs of zooplankton. For this purpose, grazing experiment using the diatom *Nitzschia* Page | 23

sp. as a food source for *Artemia salina* was developed in our laboratory. The dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Artemia salina* and *Nitzschia* sp. were measured during the life cycle of *Artemia salina* to estimate the TEFs of zooplankton.

3.2 Experimental design

3.2.1 Microalgae culture for preparation food source

Filtered seawater was prepared from surface water of Suruga Bay (Shizuoka, Japan) by using GFF. A Solution for diatom culture enriched by adding 0.1 ml Marine Algae Culture Medium KW21 (Aquatic Enterprise Co., Malaysia) and 0.45 mg Sodium Meta-Silicate into 1 L filtered seawater (Salinity: 33.6 ‰ and pH: 8.2) was prepared in Nalgene bottles (1.5 L). To this solution, 2 ml *Nitzschia* sp. from mother culture (15 to $18 \ge 10^5$ Cells/ml) was added to culture solution and continuously mixed by a magnetic stirrer. Nitzschia sp. was cultured under controlled condition by setting the light intensity at 0.5 \pm 0.1 µmol photons.m⁻².s⁻¹ for nighttime (12 h) and 21.4 \pm 2.8 μ mol photons.m⁻².s⁻¹ for daytime and temperature at 20.3 \pm 0.2°C. We observed the variation of *Nitzschia* sp. abundance in a closed culture system under a microscope to determine appropriate timing (exponential growth face) for transferring aliquots to new bottle for continuous culture. Based on the abundance result, Nitzschia sp. was transferred to new bottle (3 bottles) every four days. By that interval timetable, we could keep Nitzschia sp. monoculture with the same abundance and the stages of their life cycle among three culture bottles for feeding Artemia salina.

3.2.2 Preparation Artemia nauplii

For the preparation of free nauplii, dry eggs of *Artemia salina* (Japan Pet Drugs Co., Ltd.) were soaked in 1 L filtered seawater (Salinity: 33.6 ‰ and pH: 8.2) containing in Nalgene bottle for hatching at 20.3 ± 0.2 °C inside an incubator. *A. salina* hatched after four days with 80 % of hatching. *Artemia* nauplii were separated covering of eggs under a microscope then *Artemia* nauplii were kept in 0.5 L filter seawater for Monoculture feeding experiment until the second generation, eggs were produced and hatched in the laboratory, reached maturity.

3.2.3 Mono-feeding culture experiment of Artemia salina

Active young *Artemia* collected for initial samples after hatching without feeding, about 20 nauplii individuals were kept on GFF filter with three replicates. Samples were washed three times with MQ water before dry in an electric oven at 60 °C until constant weight.

Mono-feeding using *Nitzschia* sp. to feed *A. salina* every day until reaching adult stage of next generation. *Nitzschia* sp. abundance in culture bottle ranged from 2000 to 3000 cells x ml⁻¹ to ensure food supply for *A. salina* is always enough.

Artemia salina individual was picked to a new bottle containing filtered seawater before one-day sample collection, to allow the necessary time for food digestion in gut contain and therefore avoid the influence of isotopic signals from *Nitzschia* sp.

We collected *A. salina* sample after hatching at day one (without feeding), day 5, day 15, day 25, day 35 and mating time (day 40 - 42). Under our observation, that times were corresponding to *A. salina* stage consist of early nauplii (day 1), Nauplii (day 5), juvenile (day 15 to 25), small eggs occurred hereafter called early adult (day 35), Adult stage (mating time) and adult stage of the next generation (day 40 - 42). About 20 individual were kept on GFF filter with three replicates. Meantime, *Nitzschia* sp. sample (n = 3 for each) were filtered by GFF filter. GFF containing samples were washed three times with MQ water before dry in an electric oven at 60 °C until constant weight.

Further treatment and stable isotope analysis for samples collected onto GFF were described in Chapter 2 (Methodology).

3.2.4 Diet-consumer discrimination factors calculation

The diet-consumer discrimination factors also, called TEFs, was estimated based on the isotopic signature of predator and their prey following the equation: $\Delta X = \delta_{consumer} - \delta_{prey}$ where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Abundance of Nitzschia sp. in a closed culture system

Figure 3.1 presents the abundance of *Nitzschia* sp. in a closed culture system. Abundance increased rapidly in an exponential way until day 4 and reached stable state on day 6. After day 6, the abundance decreased rapidly.

3.3.2 The isotopic discrimination of Artemia salina during Mono-feeding rearing

Figure 3.2 showed the value of dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Nitzschia* sp. and *A. salina* during mono feeding incubation. The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signature of *Nitzschia* sp. showed a small variation between different feeding times. Mean (± SD) of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were -14.9 ‰ (± 1.0) and -2.8 ‰ (± 0.0), respectively.

The nitrogen isotopic signature of *Artemia salina* was significantly depleted from eggs and early nauplii to day 25 after hatching. These values ranged from 9.7 to -1.9 ‰. Meanwhile, the δ^{13} C enriched from -20.7 to -14.9 ‰. Overall, both isotopic value of *A. salina* tended to approach the isotopic signature of their food source (*Nitzschia* sp.). However, the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N of *A. salina* from 35 days to adult stages showed ad inverse tendency to the values of previous stages from eggs to nauplii at day 25 (see Fig 3.2).

Figure 3.3 shows the variation of stable carbon and nitrogen isotope signatures and the carbon to nitrogen atom ratio of *A. salina* and *Nitzschia* sp. during the experiment using the mono-feeding system. The C/N ratio of *A. salina* ranged from 4.1 to 5.4 (mol/mol). The δ^{13} C is a strongly correlated with δ^{15} N, and C/N ratio, their correlation coefficient (r) were -0.94 and -0.96, respectively (Appendices - 3.1). Meanwhile, the relationship between δ^{15} N and C/N ratio was positive linear of correlation, and their correlation coefficient was 0.94 (Appendices - 3.1).

The C/N ratio and both stable isotope signatures of *Nitzschia* sp. were minor variation. It indicated that *Nitzschia* sp. is a stable food source and available for the estimation of isotopic fractionation between zooplankton consumer (*A. salina*) and its mono food source (*Nitzschia* sp.).

3.3.3 Trophic fractionation between zooplankton and their food in Monofeeding experiment

Table 3.1 showed isotopic fractionation of *A. salina* and its mono food source (*Nitzschia* sp.) in the Mono-feeding incubation and *A. salina* body length at different stages. The Δ^{13} C increased from -5.4 ‰ (5 days) to 0 ‰ (25 days), but these value decreased from 35 days (-0.7 ‰) after hatching to -2.3 ‰ in adult stages of next generation. In the opposite direction, the Δ^{15} N significant decreased from 5 days after hatching (9.8 ‰) to 25 days (1.0 ‰) and increased to 4.4 ‰ in adult stages of next generation. While *A. salina* body total length grew quickly from 5 days to 25 days and their body length reached maximum (4.4 to 4.6 mm) from 35 days to adult stages (Table 3.1).

3.4 Discussions and Conclusions

Stable isotopes normally exist in the natural. The isotopic fractionation is different among organic and inorganic matters (Fry, 2007; Michener and Kaufman, 2008). Previous studies demonstrated that the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N fractionation between consumers and their food sources could be used to determine assimilated food and estimate the proportional contribution of food sources in the diet of consumers. The contribution of food sources is essential information for improving our knowledge on studies of aquatic food webs,

Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

conservation, managements and aquaculture (Caut et al., 2009; Matley et al., 2016; Watanabe et al., 2013). In the current study, the isotopic fractionation between a monoculture of the diatom *Nitzschia* sp. and the crustacean *A. salina* was determined by mono feeding system using the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signatures.

The selected food used for estimation the TEFs should have the following characteristics: 1) a potential food source with a stable amount of food supplement to feed the consumer during the experiment; 2) food source should be distinguishable isotopically with the consumer. Because the food source is a complement of nutrient for the consumer, thus if the food supply shows major variations in different stages of the consumer (in this case A. salina), it will be affected the food assimilation during the growth rate of Artemia (Prusińska et al., 2015). Moreover, Nitzschia sp. is a micro diatom which usually is used in aquaculture and applied as a food source in the specific experiment of Artemia (Toi et al., 2013). However, *Nitzschia* sp. was cultured in a closed system, where the nutrient concentration may change in the culture environment. Therefore it can affect the growth rate of *Nitzschia*, and the resulting isotopic signature of Nitzschia sp. may vary at different growth stages. In the present study, we followed Nitzschia sp. growth curve, and we selected diatoms reaching the stable growth stage (from day 4 to day 6) as a food source to A. salina. The means of a stable isotope of Nitzschia were -14.9 ‰ (\pm 1.0) for δ^{13} C and -2.8 ‰ (± 0.0) for δ^{15} N. There was a significant difference between isotopic signatures of A. salina and Nitzschia sp. (Fig. 3.2 & 3.3), which was expected to show the distinct fractionation between consumer and its food source. Overall, Nitzschia sp. is an appropriate food source for the estimation the TEFs of a zooplankton Page | 29

Although the δ^{15} N value of *Nitzschia* sp. was negative (-2.8 ‰), which is unusual in natural, our result is in agreement with Watanabe et al. (2013) who reported that the δ^{15} N value of diatom (cultured under nutrient supplement conditions) ranged from -1.0 ‰ (*Chaetoceros calcitrans*) to -7.5 ‰ (*Navicula ramossisima*). The negative δ^{15} N value of *Nitzschia* sp. may be due to the enrichment of inorganic nitrogen from the medium culture (Watanabe et al., 2013).

Previous studies demonstrated that the isotopic fractionation in different body parts of an organism is different. They also compared the whole body from large animals (bear, dolphin, fishes) to small organism (Mysid), showing differences due to the different fraction of components (i.e. lipid, protein, carbon hydrate) and turnover rate (Deniro and Epstein, 1981; Gorokhova and Hansson, 1999; Matley et al., 2016; Tieszen et al., 1983). In this study, we considered the whole body of *Artemia* discrimination from food isotopic to achieve TEF for zooplankton community in the difference fraction (Chapter 4).

Although this study did not assess the effect of lipid content to isotopic fractionation, we examined the time exchange of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N between consumer and its food during their life cycle in the mono feeding chamber experiment. Our results in a dual stable isotope of *Artemia* showed clearly the equilibrium of isotopic fractionation, they had a tendency towards the isotopic value of *Nitzschia* sp. from Nauplii (day 5) to the Juvenile stage (day 25), and these value reached isotope equilibrium at day 25 after hatching (Fig. 3.2 & 3.3). The turnover process was continued after isotope equilibrium (day 25), the

Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

isotopic values tend to be in the opposite direction to those of food value, i.e. the δ^{13} C of A. salina depleted while δ^{15} N enriched compare to the isotopic signature of Nitzschia sp. (Fig. 3.2). The exchange of isotopic value might due to changes in components during the different growth phase of A. salina. In our observation, the A. salina body length increased and reached maximum (4.4 - 4.6 cm) at early adult stage (day 35) and adult stage (day 40 - 42) (Table 3.1) when small eggs of A. salina started to occur and mate. The result indicated that A. salina might be prepared and accumulated energy for mating and eggs producing from day 25 to the adult stage. Normally that process requires lipid accumulation in organisms. Moreover, Artemia eggs were reported to contain high essential fatty acid (Lavens et al., 1989; Ruiz et al., 2007). Our result on C/N ratio supported this evidence. C/N ratio decreased from nauplii to the juvenile stage (day 25) may due to A. salina accumulated enrichment nitrogen of food source for renewable and build new protein during growth (Fig. 3.3). However, C/N ratio increased from day 35 to adult indicating that increase of carbon might be due to lipid accumulation process. On the other hand, the $\delta^{13}C$ value is depleted in lipid fraction more than other components (e.g. protein) (DeNiro and Epstein, 1997; Tieszen et al., 1983). Thus, stable carbon isotope fractionation was affected by lipid content of Artemia from day 35 to adult periods.

Nitrogen isotope ratio of the consumer is known to be enriched over its diet; our result is consistent with other reports (França et al., 2011; Fry and Ewel, 2003; Le Loc'h et al., 2008; Lebreton et al., 2012; Post, 2002; Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 2001). However, the Δ^{15} N increased of *A. salina* reached isotope equilibrium (25 days). That value increasing from 35 days may be Page | 31 explained due to the formation of eggs containing non-essential amino acid (Helland et al., 2000) which is a cause of ¹⁵N enrichment (Matley et al., 2016; Pinnegar and Polunin, 1999).

Overall, the TEFs between *A. salina* and its mono diet (*Nitzschia*) should be considered at 25 days after hatching, i.e. the mean (1±SD) of Δ^{13} C and Δ^{15} N are 0.0 ±0.9 ‰ and 1.0 ±0.5 ‰, respectively. This result of Δ^{15} N is lower than normally TEFs value of animal which was applied in previous studies to estimate the trophic level and proportion of animals' diet in the aquatic food web, i.e. Δ^{15} N ranged from 2.6 to 3.4 ‰. However, our finding on Δ^{13} C is similar to previous reports i.e. Δ^{13} C ranged from 0 to 1 ‰ (França et al., 2011; Fry and Ewel, 2003; Le Loc'h et al., 2008; Lebreton et al., 2012; Nakamura et al., 2007; Post, 2002; Tue et al., 2013; Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 2001).

In conclusion, based on the result of dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope fractionation of *A. salina* during their life cycle we determined the TEFs of *A. salina* from its diet using mono feeding growth experiment. The isotopic values of *A. salina* reached equilibrium with its food (*Nitzschia* sp.) at day 25 after hatching. Our finding provides a basic tool for studying on zooplankton food web.



Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

Figure 3.1 Abundance variation of Nitzschia sp. in a closed system



Figure 3. 2 Mean $(\pm$ SD) of dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Artemia* salina and *Nitzschia* sp. in the Mono-feeding experiment



Determination of the table isotope fractionation of zooplankton

Figure 3. 3 Discrimination of isotopic between Artemia salina and their food source

Table 3. 1 Mean $(\pm$ SD) isotopic fractionation of *Artemia salina* and *Nitzschia* sp. in the Mono-feeding incubation and body length of *A. salina* during their life cycle

Time following hatching (days)	Stages of Artemia salina	Δ ¹³ C (‰)	Δ ¹⁵ N (‰)	Total length (mm)	
5	Nauplii	-5.4 ± 1.0	9.8 ± 0.2	0.9±0.1	
15	Juvenile	-3.3 ± 1.0	3.4 ± 0.2	1.6±0.1	
25	Juvenile	0.0 ± 0.9	1.0 ± 0.5	3.2±0.7	
35	Early adult	-0.7 ± 0.9	1.3 ± 0.4	4.4±0.3	
40	Adult	-1.8 ± 0.9	4.2 ± 0.2	4.6±0.3	
42	Adult (2 nd generation)	-2.3 ± 0.9	4.4 ± 0.2	4.5±0.4	

CHAPTER 4

FOOD SOURCES OF DEMERSAL ZOOPLANKTON IN THE REEF LAGOON AT BISE, OKINAWA, JAPAN

Chapter 4

Food sources of demersal zooplankton in the reef lagoon at Bise, Okinawa, Japan

Abstract

Demersal zooplankton play an important role as the linkage between primary producers and small organic matter (mainly detritus) to higher trophic levels. However, the food sources of DZ were not well studied until now due to their small size, high turnover rate, and short life cycle. This study was conducted at Bise (Okinawa Island, Japan), which is composed of seagrass, seagrass mixture coral colonies, and coral in reef lagoon. The proportion of the potential food sources were estimated, using the mixing model based on the natural stable isotope of DZ and its food sources to clarify the food sources of demersal zooplankton in this site. The potential food sources were classified into three groups based on the difference of δ^{13} C values. The results of this study highlight the role of organic matter derived from seagrass, particularly seagrass detritus, influencing the abundance of DZ in each specific habitat. Phytoplankton and macro algae also play an important role as a food source for DZ in the lagoon. When comparing the importance of potential food sources, it was clear that DZ feed on food sources, which are available in their habitat and their migration among habitats in small spatial scale.

4.1 Introduction

Production of marine primary producers accounts for about 40 % of the primary production on the earth, and coastal marine ecosystem contributes to Page | 37

highest rates to the primary carbon production (Duarte and Cebrián, 1996; Mascart, 2010). Main photosynthetic carbon products in marine coastal ecosystems are generated by mangroves, marsh plants, seagrasses, macroalgae, coral reef algae, coastal phytoplankton, and microphytobenthos (Duarte and Cebrián, 1996). Seagrass beds and coral reefs in shallow coastal water are among the most important ecosystems, providing a wild range of potential food sources (such as seagrass leave, epiphytes, detritus matter, and macro algae, microphytobenthos) for a high diversity of consumers, (Jaxion-Harm et al., 2012; Larkum et al., 2007). However, these food sources show seasonal variations and show different pattern and level of digestion (Cebrian, 1999; Duarte, 1989; Larkum et al., 2007). Some invertebrates and vertebrates can consume directly the food sources derive from seagrass and macroalgae, but most of that food sources are decomposed by bacteria to be smaller organic matter and easily digestible (i.e. DOM, POM), then that organic matter sources can be utilized by smaller consumers.

Demersal zooplankton distribute with high densities (~ 10^6 individual x m⁻²) in shallow coastal waters such as seagrass beds, estuaries and coral reefs, kelps and soft bottoms (Coull, 1999; Jayabarathi et al., 2012; Mascart, 2010; Youngbluth, 1982). Thus, demersal zooplankton might play a role as the linkage between primary producers and higher trophic levels. DZ have high turnover rate and short life cycle (weeks to months). Thus they are quickly responding to organic matter input and closed to primary production food sources (Escaravage et al., 1989; Heip et al., 1985; Lebreton et al., 2012). Their secondary production rate was estimated from 9.0 to 29.4 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ Page | 38

(Escaravage et al., 1989). Moreover, DZ was found to be common food items in the stomach content of planktonic fishes and shrimps (Coull, 1999; Hyndes and Lavery, 2005).

Previous studies had hypothesized that DZ might play a key role in benthic energy flows, as a converter from primary production to an available food source for higher trophic levels (Lebreton et al., 2012, 2011; Melo et al., 2010). Nevertheless, understanding about the food sources of DZ was not well explored (Lebreton et al., 2012) mainly because their size are small and accounts for a short life cycle. In seagrass bed area, detritus derived from seagrass litter, macro algae which were decomposed by bacteria to small practical and re-suspended in the water column may represent a possible food source for DZ (Muller-Solger et al., 2002). Microphytobenthos (MPB) occupying the upper layer of sediment surface, show high abundances in seagrass beds (Kaldy et al., 2002), and they show easily digestibility (Duarte and Cebrián, 1996). Thus MPB is an available food source for consumers that live near the bottom such as DZ. Epiphytes often exhibit high production in seagrass bed; their ubiquitous member includes bacteria, fungi, and protozoa (Borowitzka et al., 2006) which may be a food source for DZ (Danovaro, 1996; Moncreiff et al., 1992). Phytoplankton is known as a food source for zooplankton, they provide a large primary production and represent a major food source for the food web in seagrass beds and reef lagoons (Moncreiff et al., 1992). Thus phytoplankton may also be an important potential food source for DZ. Macroalgae also represent a food source of DZ in seagrass bed and coral reef (Macko et al., 1982).

The discrimination of stable isotope between consumer and their prey item is called Trophic Enrichment Factor (TEF), TEF was determined by laboratory experiment or field experiment and fixed value in an estimation of trophic level or identification of the relationship between end member of the food web (Fry, 2007; Michener and Kaufman, 2008). Base on the discrimination between consumer and its food source, stable isotope analysis become a powerful tool and bio tracer to identify the food source that was selected by consumers (Layman et al., 2012). On the other hand, stable isotope analysis requires a small mass of sample (less than 100 μ g) (Carman and Fry, 2002).Thus, this method is able to measure the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope value of DZ and its potential preys.

This study aims to clarify the food sources of DZ in the reef lagoon at Bise, Okinawa. We examined the DZ community structure in specifically studied habitats and estimated the proportional contribution of potential food sources in the diet of DZ using natural dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope to evaluate the food sources that available in the reef lagoon. The study is expected to provide new understandings about the food sources of DZ in shallow lagoon ecosystem.

4.2 Experimental design

Bise lagoon is composed of three specific habitats including seagrass bed, seagrass mixture coral colonies, and corals in the reef lagoon. In each habitat, 2 "emergence traps" were set up from 18:00 to 07:00 of the next day for DZ collection.

Microphytobenthos (MPB) was collected on coral rubble and sediment surface at near DZ sampling place.

POM and phytoplankton were sampled near DZ sampling at 19:00 and 22:00 in each habitat.

Estimation of proportional contribution from food sources

To estimate the proportional contribution of potential food source in the diet of DZ in each habitat using stable isotope mixing model SIAR V4, we applied the TEF (\pm SD) for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N as 0.0 \pm 0.9 ‰ and 1.0 \pm 0.5 ‰, respectively (see Chapter 3).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Demersal zooplankton community

In Bise reef lagoon, 40 taxa of DZ were identified to the lowest possible taxon (Table 4.1). Table 4.1 also shows the size range and relative abundance of DZ in each habitat. The dominant groups in the CR habitat included Polychaeta (larvae) (26.5 %), followed by Isopoda (10.3 %), Harpacticoida (nauplius) (9.2 %). In SG habitat, Polychaeta (larvae) contributed 17.4 %, followed by the copepod *C. thompsoni* (16.7 %) and Isopoda (16.1 %). In SG+CR habitat, Polychaeta (larvae) contributed 30.3 %, followed by Isopoda (12.3 %) and *C. thompsoni* (9.9 %).

The number of taxa and diversity index (H') of DZ at each habitat were similar. Total taxa in CR, SG and SG+CR were 29, 28 and 29 taxa, respectively (Table 4.1) and H' was 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7 in CR, SG, and SG+CR, respectively (Table 4.2). However, the abundance of DZ in SG and SG+CR habitats were

significantly higher than in CR habitat, i.e. the DZ abundance in SG and SG+CR were 17.6 ± 2.3 (Ind. m⁻²) and 18.8 ± 6.8 (Ind. m⁻²), meanwhile DZ abundance in CR habitat was 6.8 ± 2.0 (Ind. m⁻²) (Table 4.2). The result of the assessment of the similarity base on the abundance and composition of DZ between habitats showed that the similarity between SG and SG+CR was high (80.1 %), while the similarity between CR to SG and SG+CR were 69.1 % and 68.5 %, respectively.

4.3.2 Dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of demersal zooplankton and its potential food sources

Figure 4.1 shows the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope signatures of DZ and its potential food sources. The δ^{15} N value of DZ ranged from 3.9 to 7.3 ‰, and their δ^{13} C ranged from -19.7 to -14.4 ‰. The isotopic values of DZ were different among habitats. In SG habitat, the δ^{15} N value of DZ ranged from 5.4 to 7.3 ‰, and for δ^{13} C of DZ almost all value ranged from -17.1 to -14.4 ‰, excepted DZ size class 500 to 1000 µm (-19.7 ‰). In CR habitat, the δ^{13} C of DZ showed no significant difference among size fraction; its value ranged from -18.2 to -17.1 ‰. However, the δ^{13} C of different DZ size fractions showed a wide range from -19.2 to -15.5 ‰.

The δ^{13} C of food sources can be divided into three group, with their δ^{13} C value showing significant differences (*p*<0.05). The δ^{13} C of group 1 (phytoplankton and *Ulva* sp.) ranged from -19.3 to -18.7 ‰. Group 2 includes POM and SG litter; their δ^{13} C value ranged from -17.6 to -15.9 ‰. Moreover, group 3 consists of Epiphytes and MPB had δ^{13} C value ranged from -13.8 to -12.0 ‰.

4.3.3 Proportional contribution of food sources in the diet of demersal zooplankton

Table 4.3 shows the proportion of the potential food sources in the diet of DZ in each habitat. In SG habitat, smaller DZ size classes (73 to 100 μ m) tend to prefer on epiphytes and MPB more than another food sources i.e. epiphytes and MPB contributed 17.2 % and 17.4 % to the diet of DZ <73 μ m, and 20.9 % and 21.1 % in diet of DZ of 73 to 100 μ m, respectively. Lager DZ size classes (250 to 4000 μ m) seem to prefer on food sources derive from SG litter, *Ulva* sp., and phytoplankton, example in the diet of DZ 250 to 500 μ m, *Ulva* sp. contributed 18.5 %, followed by SG litter (18.4 %) and Phytoplankton (17.4 %). The percentage of these food sources in the diet of larger DZ showed the similar tendency of DZ 250 to 500 μ m (Table 4.3).

In SG+CR habitat, DZ < 73 µm preferred on epiphytes (18.7 %) and MPB (17.5 %). Moreover, DZ < 73 µm also consumed high percentage on food source derived from SG litter (17.6 %). Although DZ of 73 to 100 µm in SG+CR preferred on epiphytes with a high percentage (17.1 %). However, they seemed to consume the food source derived from SG litter (18.3 %) and *Ulva* sp. (17.0 %). DZ of larger size classes seem to prefer on phytoplankton such as 24.3 % for DZ 250 to 500 µm, 17.9 % for DZ 500 to 1000 µm, 20.1 % for DZ 1000 to 2000 µm, 20.6 % for DZ 2000 to 4000 µm, and 22.2 % for DZ \geq 4000 µm. In the diet of DZ larger size classes (250 to 4000 µm) in SG+CR habitat, following the proportion value of phytoplankton by food source derived from *Ulva* sp., SG litter and POM (Table 4.3).

In CR habitat, the mixing model results showed that DZ seem to prefer more on phytoplankton in all size fraction of DZ (73 to 4000 μ m), followed by POM and *Ulva* sp. (Table 4.3). The proportional distributions of food sources were difference compare to other studied habitats. DZ small size fraction (73 to 100 μ m) accumulated on epiphytes and MBP smaller than another food source. Meanwhile, in SG and SG+CR habitats, they seemed to prefer on these food sources more than other. Moreover, the SG litter food source contributed less percentage compare to other studied habitats (Table 4.3).

4.4 Discussions and Conclusions

4.4.1 Stable isotope signatures and the potential food sources

The δ^{13} C values of the potential food sources are well discriminated (Fig. 4.1), based on δ^{13} C values the potential food sources were divided into three groups. The similarity of δ^{13} C value between the component foods sources in each group indicates that they might serve in similar proportion in the diet of consumers. The δ^{13} C fractionation between consumers and its food sources remains in the small range from 0 to 1 ‰ (Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 2001). Therefore δ^{13} C usually is used to trace carbon pathway from food sources to consumer (Bouillon et al., 2008). The δ^{13} C values of POM were similar to those value of SG litter, but their values were significantly different to that of phytoplankton (Fig. 4.1). It indicated that carbon source of POM mainly derived from SG detritus. Seagrass leaves were buried in sediment or floating on the surface water or suspended in the water column (Larkum et al., 2007). This plant material is decomposed by bacteria in the process of decay and converted into a smaller fraction (POC) and dissolved organic carbon Page | 44

(DOM). Therefore, organic carbon derives from seagrass production contributes mainly in the lagoon to the particular seagrass leaves detritus (Larkum et al., 2007). The δ^{13} C of primary producers potential food sources of DZ in this study were well discriminated into two groups. The δ^{13} C of phytoplankton (-19.3 to -19.0) and *Ulva* sp. (-18.7 ‰) were lighter than Epiphytes (-12.5 to -12.0 ‰) and MPB (-13.8 to -12.7 ‰) (Fig. 4.1). The δ^{13} C signatures of these food sources are in agreement with the range of previous observations in the seagrass bed (Kang et al., 1999; Lebreton et al., 2012, 2011) and others environments (Boschker et al., 2000; Kharlamenko et al., 2008; Schaal et al., 2008). The discrimination of δ^{13} C between food sources is necessary to compare the proportion of food sources in the diet of consumers (Bond and Diamond, 2011; Healy et al., 2016; Hopkins and Ferguson, 2012; Parnell and Jackson, 2013).

4.4.2 Potential food sources of demersal zooplankton Role of Epiphytes and MPB as DZ food sources

Epiphytes account for over 50% of the standing stock in seagrass meadows (Borowitzka et al., 2006) and MPB algae can represent up to 54% of seagrass production (Lebreton et al., 2011). They are important primary producers in seagrass bed and have a significant contribution to food web (Borowitzka et al., 2006). Our mixing model result showed that epiphytes and MPB seem to contribute in high percentage in the diet of small DZ (73 to 100 μ m) in SG and SG+CR habitats, and higher than other food sources (Table 4.3). This result can be explained since the smaller size DZ show less motion and swim near the bottom (Alldredge and King, 1985), therefore they prefer on diatom and micro Page | 45

algae which are the main component of epiphytes and MPB that can be easily found on seagrass leaves, rhizomes and surface of sediment (upper 2 cm) (Borowitzka et al., 2006; Lebreton et al., 2011). Although, the distance between sampling points between SG+CR and CR was only 150 m (Fig 2.1), however, epiphytes did not show a significant contribution in the diet of DZ in CR habitat (Table 4.3). This result indicates that the migration DZ from habitat to other habitat was limited and their migration occurs in small spatial scale. The percentage of MPB contributed in DZ diet was smaller than other food sources in CR habitat. In the CR habitat, although sunlight can more penetrate to the bottom than in SG and SG+CR, which are shaded by SG canopy, however, currents (mainly tidal currents) are frequently removing the bottom of the CR habitat. Therefore, the small organisms attached on sediment such as micro algae show low density and biomass. Moreover, the numbers of individuals of DZ of smaller size classes in CR were smaller than SG and SG+CR (Table 4.1 and Appendices – 4.1).

Role of POM and SG litter as food sources of DZ

High biomass of seagrass detrital matter is stored in sediment layer that is an important organic matter source for the deposit feeders (Lebreton et al., 2012). The Mixing model results showed that SG litter highly contributed to the diet of DZ in SG and SG+CR habitats, particularly 250 to 1000 μ m of DZ (Table 4.3). Moreover, DZ species belonging to that size classes contributed with the highest abundance in SG and SG+CR habitats (Table 4.2 and Appendices 4.1). However, the contribution of SG litter as a food source was not significant in CR habitat to compare to other food sources. In SG habitats, SG detritus can be stored on the bottom of, meanwhile, the wind, currents, and waves usually influence in CR habitat where SG litter cannot easily sink and store in CR habitat. On the other hand, the abundance of DZ in SG and SG+CR habitats were significantly higher than CR habitat (Table 4.2). These results indicated that organic matter derives from seagrass detritus might is a major food source influencing the abundance of DZ.

POM contributed with the highest proportion as a food source in the diet of DZ in almost of size class fractions in CR habitat (Table 4.3). Meiobenthic community in seagrass bed was mainly relying on POM (Lebreton et al., 2012). In this study, POM was mainly composed of organic matter derived from SG litter as shown in above discussion (see 4.4.1 section). Overall, this finding highlights the role of organic matter derived from seagrass detritus as an important food source in the reef lagoon.

Role of Phytoplankton and Ulva sp. as DZ food sources

Phytoplankton is an important food source for zooplankton in the aquatic food web. However, the role of phytoplankton as a food source in shallow water, particularly in the diet of DZ is poor understanding. Because they spend almost time in their life cycle on the bottom and emerge to water column for a short period during dark hours (Alldredge and King, 1980; Hammer, 1981). Therefore, they might prefer more on food source available on the bottom than in the water column (i.e. phytoplankton). Nevertheless, DZ were reported as an opportunistic feeder in a seagrass bed (Hyndes and Lavery, 2005; Leduc et al., 2009). Thus they are quickly responding to the available food source during their life cycle. Moreover, the mixing model showed that phytoplankton contributed with a high proportion in the diet of DZ at three studied habitats according to size fractions. This result indicated that the phytoplankton might be a good food source as it is provided from the open ocean into the lagoon by to tidal currents. Therefore, the water exchange between reef lagoons is a major factor influence to food sources of DZ. Macroalgae Ulva sp. distribute widely in Bise lagoon that was reported as a food source for marine amphipod and meiofauna (Leduc et al., 2009; Macko et al., 1982). The result of mixing model support for this evidence since Ulva sp. was found to contribute with high percentages in the diet of DZ in CR and SG+CR.

In conclusion, this study highlights the role of organic matter derived from seagrass, particularly seagrass detritus influencing the abundance of DZ in each specific habitat. Phytoplankton and macro algae are also important food sources for DZ in the lagoon. When comparing the importance of potential food sources, it is suggested that DZ prefer on the food source, which is easily available on a small spatial scales.



Figure 4. 1 Carbon and nitrogen isotopic signatures (mean \pm SD) of demersal zooplankton, their consumers, and other food sources in Fukido Estuary.

The symbols indicate demersal zooplankton (Δ), POM (\Diamond), Phytoplankton (\Box), Epiphytes (\circ), and MPB (x). Solid black, green and dark red filled symbols denote organisms collected in the SG, SG+CR, and CR. The numbers indicate the upper value of DZ size classes.

Table 4. 1 Composition, size range, and relative abundance (%) of demersalzooplankton captured by emergence traps.

Abbreviations: CR, SG, and SG+CR denote the coral, seagrass and seagrass mixture coral habitats, respectively.

Таха	Size range [µm]	CR	SG	SG+CR
SARCOMASTIGOPHORA				
Granuloreticulosea				
Foraminiferida		0.6	1.0	
NEMATODA			0.3	
MOLLUSCA				
Gastropoda				
Gastropoda larva		1.9	1.0	1.2
ANNELIDA				
Polychaeta				
Polychaeta (larvae)	300 - 9000	26.5	17.4	30.3
ARTHROPODA				
Maxillopoda				
Ostracoda		0.6	0.3	
Acartia japonica		0.6		0.3
Acartia (copepodite)		0.3		
Undinula vulgaris			0.3	
Calanidae (copepodite)				0.3
Paracalanidae (copepodite)	250 - 500	0.6		
Calanopia minor		1.1	0.3	0.6
Calanopia thompsoni	2200 - 2500	1	16.7	9.9
Pontellidae (copepodite)				0.3
Oithona oculata	650 - 800	2.5	5.8	4.5
Oithona rigida		0.3	1.3	
Oithonidae (copepodite)	300 - 600	3.3	3.2	2.4
Cyclopoida	300 - 650	4.5	2.9	2.4
Cyclopoida (copepodite)		2.8	1.0	1.5

Page | 50

Total individual		3590	9330	9990
Total taxa		29	28	29
Osteichthyes (larvae)				0.3
Osteichthyes				
CHORDATA				
Decapoda (mysis)	1000 - 3000	1.4	1.9	2.4
Decapoda (zoea)	1100 - 3000	1.1	3.2	3.3
Brachyura (zoea)	800 - 2200	1.4	1.9	1.5
Anomura (glaucothoe)			0.3	
Anomura (zoea)		0.3		0.3
Gammaridea	1000 - 3000	2.8	2.9	2.7
Isopoda	400 - 1000	10.3	16.1	12.3
Cumacea		0.6	2.6	0.3
Mysidacea			0.3	0.9
Malacostraca				
Cirripedia (cypris)			1.0	
Cirripedia (nauplius)		0.8	1.0	1.2
Facetotecta (nauplius)		0.3		
Copepoda (nauplius)	100 - 450	6.4	4.5	3.9
Monstrilloida (copepodite)				0.3
Poecilostomatoida (copepodit	e)	2.2	2.3	0.9
Poecilostomatoida	700 - 800	0.8	1.6	1.8
Oncaea zernovi				0.3
Corvcaeidae (copepodite)		0.3		
Harpacticoida (copepodite)	200 - 600	9.2	3.2	6.0
Harpacticoida	300 - 900	6.7	5.8	7.5
Microsetella (copepodite)			0.3	

Table 4. 2 Demersal zooplankton diversity, abundance and the similarityamong habitats in Bise lagoon, Okinawa Islands.

H' is Shannon Index, the abbreviation SG, SG+CR and CR denote seagrass, seagrass mixture coral, and coral habitats, respectively.

		Abundance of DZ Mean	Similarity (%)		
Habitats	H'	$(\pm SD) \ge 10^4$ (Ind. m-2)	SG	SG+CR	
SG	2.6	17.6 ±2.3	100.0		
SG+CR	2.7	18.8 ±6.8	80.1	100.0	
CR	2.5	6.8 ±2.0	69.1	68.5	

Table 4. 3 Proportional diets of demersal zooplankton in the reef lagoon at Bise, Okinawa, Japan.

The mean and the 90% credibility intervals (5% and 95%) of the proportions are reported for each potential food source in the demersal zooplankton diet. DZ, MPB, Phyto-, and POM denote the demersal zooplankton, microphytobenthos, phytoplankton and practical organic matter. A number of 73, 100, 250, 500, 1000, 2000 and 4000 are the size classes of 73 to 100 μ m, 100 to 250 μ m, 250 to 500 μ m, 500 to 1000 μ m, 1000 to 2000 μ m, 2000 to 4000 μ m and larger than 4000 μ m, respectively.

Habitats	DZ size classes (µm)	Epiphytes	MPB	РОМ	SG litter	Phyto-	Ulva sp.
Seagrass	73 – 100	17.2 (2.6 - 31.8)	17.4 (2.7 - 32.1)	16.4 (2.2 - 31.2)	16.9 (2.0 - 33.1)	16.3 (2.1 - 31.4)	15.8 (2.0 - 30.5)
	100 - 250	20.9 (3.5 - 38.1)	21.1 (3.8 - 38.6)	13.6 (1.4 - 29.3)	16.7 (1.9 - 33.1)	13.6 (1.2 - 29.1)	14.2 (1.3 - 30.2)
	250 - 500	15.6 (1.7 - 31.1)	16.7 (2.1 - 32.7)	13.3 (1.3 - 29.2)	18.4 (2.6 - 35.1)	17.4 (2.2 - 33.6)	18.5 (2.7 - 35.1)
	500 - 1000	15.4 (1.7 - 31.3)	15.1 (1.5 - 30.6)	16.0 (2.4 - 30.3)	16.9 (2.1 - 32.0)	18.2 (2.5 - 34.6)	18.4 (2.7 - 34.5)

	1000 - 2000	16.9 (2.6 - 31.5)	17.6 (2.8 - 32.3)	15.6 (1.8 - 30.8)	17.5 (2.4 - 33.1)	16.3 (2.2 - 31.2)	16.1 (2.0 - 31.2)
	2000 - 4000	13.4 (1.3 - 28.9)	14.8 (1.5 - 30.8)	15.4 (1.5 - 31.8)	18.2 (2.3 - 34.9)	18.8 (2.8 - 35.3)	19.5 (3.3 - 36.2)
	> 4000	16.4 (1.9 - 32.3)	16.6 (1.9 - 32.4)	16.2 (2.0 - 32.2)	16.8 (2.1 - 32.9)	17.0 (2.1 - 33.1)	17.0 (2.0 - 33.0)
Seagrass mixture coral	73 – 100	18.7 (3.6 - 32.5)	17.5 (2.6 - 32.6)	15.6 (1.8 - 31.0)	17.6 (2.4 - 33.8)	15.2 (2.0 - 30.1)	15.4 (1.9 - 30.6)
	100 - 250	17.1 (2.7 - 31.5)	16.7 (2.2 - 32.0)	14.1 (1.8 - 28.9)	18.3 (3.2 - 33.5)	16.7 (2.3 - 31.6)	17.0 (2.4 - 32.2)
	250 - 500	11.2 (1.2 - 26.6)	13.7 (1.5 - 28.5)	11.1 (0.8 - 27.7)	19.9 (4.4 - 35.9)	24.3 (4.3 - 56.2)	19.8 (4.7 - 35.4)
	500 - 1000	15.5 (1.6 - 31.4)	16.0 (1.7 - 31.7)	17.3 (3.0 - 31.2)	15.8 (1.9 - 30.8)	17.9 (2.5 - 34.0)	17.4 (2.6 - 32.6)
	1000 - 2000	12.8 (1.1 - 27.9)	14.2 (1.4 - 29.9)	15.2 (1.5 - 31.9)	18.4 (2.6 - 35.5)	20.1 (3.8 - 35.4)	19.4 (3.4 - 35.1)
	2000 - 4000	12.5 (0.9 - 28.6)	14.3 (1.2 - 30.5)	16.8 (2.5 - 32.1)	16.4 (1.9 - 32.3)	20.6 (3.5 - 38.1)	19.4 (3.3 - 35.9)

	> 4000	11.6 (0.9 - 27.5)	12.8 (1.1 - 28.7)	12.1 (1.1 - 27.4)	18.9 (2.7 - 35.2)	22.2 (4.0 - 42.0)	22.3 (4.4 - 40.0)
	73 – 100	15.9 (1.9 - 31.1)	15.5 (1.8 - 30.8)	20.6 (4.8 - 34.5)	15.3 (1.6 - 30.9)	16.3 (1.9 - 31.9)	16.4 (2.1 - 31.8)
	100 - 250	13.3 (1.0 - 29.9)	13.9 (1.2 - 29.9)	19.6 (2.9 - 37.2)	15.8 (1.7 - 32.0)	19.1 (2.7 - 36.6)	18.3 (2.4 - 35.3)
Coral	250 - 500	15.0 (1.5 - 30.2)	15.1 (1.5 - 30.6)	19.5 (2.9 - 36.3)	15.6 (1.6 - 31.6)	17.5 (2.3 - 33.4)	17.1 (2.0 - 33.4)
	500 - 1000	12.8 (1.1 - 28.1)	13.7 (1.4 - 28.9)	20.3 (5.0 - 34.3)	15.5 (1.8 - 30.9)	18.7 (3.1 - 34.3)	19.0 (3.2 - 34.4)
	1000 - 2000	14.2 (1.2 - 30.6)	15.7 (1.8 - 31.7)	13.5 (1.1 - 29.7)	18.6 (2.5 - 35.7)	19.0 (2.6 - 36.2)	19.0 (2.8 - 36.1)
	2000 - 4000	13.1 (1.1 - 29.2)	14.2 (1.2 - 30.1)	17.3 (3.0 - 31.2)	16.7 (2.3 - 32.2)	19.2 (3.1 - 36.3)	19.4 (3.1 - 35.9)
	> 4000	12.9 (1.1 - 29.5)	13.0 (1.1 - 29.1)	23.7 (4.6 - 43.6)	14.1 (1.3 - 30.3)	19.1 (2.6 - 35.9)	17.3 (2.1 - 34.2)

This chapter was published on International Journal of Marine Science

7(17): 161-175 (doi: 10.5376/ijms.2017.07.0017)

CHAPTER 5

ROLE OF DEMERSAL ZOOPLANKTON AS A FOOD SOURCE FOR HIGHER TROPHIC LEVELS AT FUKIDO ESTUARY, ISHIGAKI ISLAND, OKINAWA, JAPAN

Chapter 5

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels at Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island, Okinawa, Japan

Abstract

Demersal zooplankton (DZ) appear in the water column at night, and are highly abundant in mangrove, seagrass, and coral reef habitats; however, few studies have discussed their role in aquatic food webs, considering different consumers and their preferences on different DZ' size classes. This study elucidates the role of DZ as a food source for higher trophic levels in an estuarine area, particularly with respect to the food preference and size selection of their consumers. The study was conducted in the mangrove forest of Fukido Estuary and an adjacent reef lagoon (with seagrass-dominated and seagrass-coral mixture areas) on Ishigaki Island, Japan. The abundance of demersal zooplankton was 4.0, 5.4, and 11.3×10^4 ind.m⁻² for seagrass, mangrove, and seagrass-coral mixture habitats, respectively. The lowest DZ biomass was recorded in mangroves and mainly dominant by smaller organisms because their consumers in this habitat prefer large-sized prey. The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signatures showed that, in mangroves, demersal zooplankton constituted a higher proportion of the diet of fishes than in lagoon habitats; however, demersal zooplankton did not have a significant role in the diet of fishes and macroinvertebrates in the lagoon. Consistency among biomass, stomach contents, and the proportions of DZ of all size classes in the diet of mangrove fishes indicated that DZ serve as a major food source. In contrast,
Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels fishes in lagoon habitats consumed more crabs, shrimps, and mollusks than DZ. In conclusion, our analytical approach allowed us to demonstrate that DZ of different body sizes serves as food sources for different consumers in different habitats of the estuarine ecosystem.

5.1 Introduction

Mangroves, seagrasses, and coral reefs are important marine coastal ecosystems because they sustain high biodiversity (Marguillier et al., 1997; Zieman et al., 1984) and are highly efficient at transferring organic matter from primary producers to higher trophic levels (Nagelkerken, 2009). These wellstructured ecosystems provide stable nursery sites and a wide range of food sources for diverse fishes and invertebrates (Beck et al., 2001; Melo et al., 2010; Touchette, 2007). These habitats accumulate a large quantity of nonliving organic matter in their sediments in the form of detritus, leaf litter, and decomposed dead organisms (Bouillon and Connolly, 2009; Kristensen et al., 2008). However, few species of consumers are able to utilize this food source directly. Thus, sediment detritivores and herbivores might be important for connecting these food webs by transferring energy from primary producers to higher trophic levels (Mascart, 2010; Sogard, 1984). Previous studies have reported that demersal zooplankton (DZ) are important for linking small particles (detritus and primary producers attached to sediments) to planktivorous fishes (Boltovskoy, 1999; Morgan, 1990).

DZ reside (or hide) near the substrate during the daytime, emerge at night when they spend a short time in the water column, and return to the substratum Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels before sunrise (Alldredge and King, 1980; Hobson and Chess, 1979; Melo et al., 2010). According to Alldredge and King (1980), the night-time migration of DZ has several advantages, including feeding (on small organisms, such as pico- and nano- size plankton or smaller DZ), reproduction (polychaetes spawn at the surface, amphipods mate in the water column), escape from predation by benthic invertebrates, ecdysis, and dispersal to potentially more favorable locations to reduce competition for food and space. Studies have shown that large numbers of DZ emerge from the seagrass, coral reefs, soft bottoms, and kelp beds at night (Jayabarathi et al., 2012; Mascart, 2010; Youngbluth, 1982). Thus, they might serve as an important food source for planktivores (Melo et al., 2010). However, few studies (Chew et al., 2012; Smith et al., 1979) have investigated how DZ are linked to their consumers in the aquatic food web of coastal ecosystems.

In the food webs of natural systems, it is difficult to determine the proportional contribution of food sources to the diet of consumers on the basis of stomach contents, because the food is rapidly digested in comparison to the slow digestion of non-living organic matter derived from sediments (Fry and Ewel, 2003). As a result, there has been an increasing number of studies using dual stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes to determine the relationship between predators and their food sources (Nakamura et al., 2008; Pasquaud et al., 2010; Tue et al., 2013; Vinagre et al., 2012; Fry, 2007). The δ^{15} N in the tissues of a consumer is typically 2.6‰ to 3.4‰ richer than that in their prey; thus, δ^{15} N studies are often conducted to estimate the trophic position of species in the food web (Deniro and Epstein, 1981; Fry, 2007; Post, 2002). The δ^{13} C of a consumer

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels increases by 0‰ to 1‰ with respect to their food sources (Michener and Lajtha, 2008; Tue et al., 2013). Therefore, the δ^{13} C signature could be used to trace the carbon pathway when the δ^{13} C value of food sources differs across prey items (Bouillon et al., 2008). The stable isotope analysis in R (SIAR) isotopic mixing model (Parnell and Jackson, 2013) is increasingly being applied to estimate the proportions of various food sources ingested by a consumer, on the basis of the isotopic signatures of consumers, food sources, and the trophic enrichment factor (TEF) (Tue et al., 2013). The SIAR model is an open-source package that uses Bayesian inference to address natural variation and the uncertainty of stable isotope data to calculate the probability of food source contributions as percentages of the total diet (Pacella et al., 2013).

In the present study, we hypothesized that DZ contribute in major proportion to the diet of higher trophic levels at Fukido estuarine aquatic food web, and these consumers preferentially feed on DZ of different size classes. We tested this hypothesis by (1) analyzing the abundance and biomass of DZ in a mangrove and an adjacent lagoon (seagrass dominated and seagrass-coral mixture) habitat, to assess the potential amount of DZ that serves as a food source, and (2) determining the proportion of DZ of different size classes in the diets of fishes and macroinvertebrates distributed in mangrove and reef lagoon area, by combining the isotopic mixing model (SIAR) with stomach content analysis. This study is expected to provide new insights on the role and importance of DZ as a food source for consumers at the three sub-environments that compose the Fukido estuary.

5.2 Experimental design

Sampling was carried out at MG, SG, and SG+CR in March 2015 and 2016.

Determining the abundance and biomass of DZ

DZ was identified and counted under a stereomicroscope (SMZ 1000, Nikon Inc.). The abundance of DZ taxa was calculated as the number of individual m⁻² (ind.m⁻²) on the bottom surface area, based on the mouth area of the "emergence trap" (see Fig. 1B). The carbon biomass of DZ was calculated as the carbon content in μ g C ind⁻¹, based on the taxonomic level and the average size class, using the regression equation given by Heidelberg et al., (2010); LN (Copepod biomass) = $1.82 \times \log (L) + 1.28 (r^2 = 0.893, df = 16, F =$ 125; sig. = 1.12×10^{-8}) and LN (Other taxa biomass) = $1.46 \times LN (L) + 1.03 (r^2)$ = 0.733, df = 16, F = 80.7; sig. = 3.47×10^{-7}), where LN is the natural logarithm and L is the average size in mm.

Analysis of fish stomach content

The stomach and gut were dissected from the fish body and preserved with 90% ethanol. The stomach content was observed under a stereomicroscope (SMZ 1000, Nikon Inc.), and the percentage of items present was estimated. The food sources were identified to the lowest possible taxon.

Estimation of proportional contribution from food sources

To compare the percentage of DZ with other food sources at each of the selected habitats, we estimated the contribution of food sources to the diets of consumers (fishes, macroinvertebrates) in each habitat using the mean of the Page | 60

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

TEF (\pm SD) for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N as 0.4 \pm 1.3‰ and 3.4 \pm 1.0‰, respectively (Post, 2002). By the results of the stomach contents analysis, we compared DZ against other food sources (including crabs, shrimps, mollusks and, detritus) in the diet of fishes. In the diet of macroinvertebrates, we compared DZ against the plant (mangrove or seagrass) leaves, phytoplankton, detritus, and sediment.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Composition of DZ communities

In the present study, 18 DZ taxa were identified (Table 5.1). The species groups that had high-frequency distributions and higher abundance in all three habitats were Harpacticoida (copepodite), Foraminifera, and Gammaridea (Table 5.1). In the MG habitat, Harpacticoida (copepodite) contributed 43.2%, followed by Nematoda (24.3%) and the nauplii of Copepoda (10.8%). In the SG habitat, Foraminifera contributed 27.8%, followed by Isopoda (22.2%). In the SG+CR habitat, *Oithona rigida* had the highest abundance (25.7%), followed by the nauplii of Copepoda (22.9%) and Harpacticoida (copepodite) (12.9%).

The diversity index (H') increased from MG (1.6) towards SG+CR (2.2) habitat (Fig. 5.1A). DZ abundance was highest in SG+CR (11.3 × 10⁴ ind.m⁻²), followed by MG (5.4×10^4 ind.m⁻²) and SG (4.0×10^4 ind.m⁻²) (Fig. 5.1A). When analyzing the biomass of the different size classes, we observed that the larger size classes (i.e., 500 to 1000 µm, 1000 to 2000 µm, and >2000 µm) contributed more to the total biomass of SG and SG+CR compared to MG (Fig. 5.1B). The biomass contributions of the smaller size classes (73 µm, 100 µm,

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

250 µm) were similar in both MG and SG habitats. Small organisms mainly dominated the total DZ biomass in the MG habitat. Moreover, the total biomass in MG (205.2 × 10³ µg C m⁻²) was lower than the total biomass in SG (341.1 × 10³ µg C m⁻²) and SG+CR (709.0 × 10³ µg C m⁻²) (Fig. 5.1B). Thus, the MG habitat contained smaller organisms, with the lower abundance dominating the total biomass. This abundance was lower than the total biomass of DZ in SG and SG+CR.

5.3.2 Stomach contents of fishes

Table 5.2 shows the stomach contents of 11 fish species collected in Fukido Estuary. The preferred foods of fishes in MG were zooplankton, which are components of DZ (Table 5.1). Fishes from MG primarily consumed copepods (5–15%) and polychaetes (5–25%), followed by amphipods (3–10%), nematodes (5–10%), and foraminifers (2–5%). Some fishes, such as *Y. cringer* (2%), *C. punctata* (5%), *F. amboinensis* (7%), and *Lutjanus* sp. (20%) consumed crabs. Shrimp and mollusks were consumed by larger fishes, such as *Lutjanus* sp. (10%) and *A. semipunctata* (10%), respectively (Table 5.2). However, the main stomach content of some fish specimens in MG was detritus (*G. oyena* [80%] and *A. semipunctata* [50%]) and fine soil and sand grains (*F. amboinensis* [40%] and *Z. dunckeri* [30%]) (Table 5.2). Fish specimens collected in the LG habitat mainly consumed crabs (10–15%), mollusks (10–30%), and shrimp (10%). Moreover, some fishes consumed DZ species, such as amphipods (20–30%), copepods (10%), and polychaetes (5%), in the lagoon habitat (Table 5.2).

5.3.3 Isotopic signature of consumers, DZ, and other food sources

Figure 5.2 shows the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope signatures of DZ, other food sources (mangrove leave, seagrass leave, detritus, sediment, and phytoplankton), and their consumers (fishes, crabs, shrimps and mollusks) in the aquatic food web of Fukido Estuary. The δ^{13} C values of DZ ranged from - 24.9 to -20.4‰ and -20.5 to -15.4‰ in the MG and LG areas, respectively. The δ^{15} N signatures of DZ in both habitats were not significantly different (ANOVA, p = 0.479), ranging from 2.7 to 4.6‰ (Fig. 5.2).

The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of other food sources (mangrove and seagrass leaves, phytoplankton, detritus, and sediment) ranged from -29.4 to -25.9‰ and 0.6 to 2.1‰, respectively, in MG; and from -21.3 to -10.3‰ (δ^{13} C) and 0.7 to 1.8‰ (δ^{15} N) in the LG habitat. The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of consumers ranged from -26.7 to -18.8‰ and 4.3 to 9.3‰ in MG, respectively. In comparison, these signatures ranged from -14.2 to -11.0‰ (δ^{13} C) and from 4.2 to 9.7‰ (δ^{15} N) in the lagoon habitat (Fig. 5.2).

5.3.4 Proportional distribution of DZ in the diets of higher trophic levels

The contributions of the potential food sources of the fishes and macroinvertebrates in Fukido Estuary are presented in Table 5.3 and Table 5.4, respectively. Table 5.3 shows that DZ of larger size classes (500 to 2000 μ m) contributed more to the diet of MG fishes than the DZ of smaller size classes (73 to 250 μ m). In the diet of some mangrove fish species, the proportional contribution of DZ from the larger size classes (500 to 2000 μ m) was higher than that of other food sources (e.g., crabs, shrimp, mollusks, and detritus). *A. semipunctata* consumed large quantities of DZ large than 2000 μ m (15.0%), Page | 63

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

followed by 500–1000 μ m DZ (13.4%) and 1000–2000 μ m DZ (12.9%). DZ contributed 11.1–12.5% to the diet of *Y. criniger*. DZ are larger than 2000 μ m contributed the highest proportion (12.9%) to the diet of *Z. dunckeri*, followed by 1000–2000 μ m DZ (12.6%) and 500–1000 μ m DZ (12.1%). Other food sources contributed 4.3–11.7%, 7.1–10.5%, and 7.3–9.7% to the diet of *A. semipunctata*, *Y. criniger*, and *Z. dunckeri*, respectively. In comparison, some mangrove fish species consumed more crabs and shrimps than DZ. For instance, *F. amboinensis* consumed the highest proportion of crabs (19.0%), followed by shrimps (15.8%). The diet of *C. punctate* contained 13.1% crabs and 11.7% shrimps. DZ contributed just 6.2–7.8% (73–250 μ m size classes) and 8.7–13.6% (500–2000 μ m) to the diet of *F. amboinensis*, and 8.8–9.6% (73–250 μ m) and 10.1–11.6% (500 – 2000 μ m) to the diet of *C. punctata*.

Lutjanus sp. and *G. oyena* consumed similar quantities of DZ (500–2000 μ m) and other crustaceans (such as crabs and shrimps) in MG habitat; however, *Lutjanus* sp. collected in the LG habitat consumed more crabs (12.2%) and shrimps (11.2%) than DZ (9.8–10.1%). Other lagoon fishes also consumed more on crabs, shrimps, and mollusks than DZ (Table 5.3).

The results of the mixing model of the macroinvertebrates diet items and their proportions in Fukido Estuary are presented in Table 5.4. Mangrove crabs (*Scylla serrata* and *Charybdis* sp.) consumed more DZ of bigger size classes (500 to 2000 μ m) than smaller size classes (73–250 μ m) or other food sources (i.e., those derived from mangrove leaves, detritus, sediment, and phytoplankton). In comparison, some macroinvertebrates (such as *E. japonica* and *C. septemspinosa*)

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels consumed more DZ of smaller size classes (73–250 μ m) than larger size classes (500–2000 μ m). Almost all macro-invertebrates (except *Charybdis* sp. and *S. serrata*) from both habitats preferentially consumed food sources derived from detritus, sediment, plants, and phytoplankton compared to DZ.

5.4 Discussions and Conclusions

5.4.1 Role of DZ as a potential food source in an estuarine food web

Mangroves, seagrasses, and coral reefs support and provide shelter for a large number and high diversity of fish and invertebrates (Larkum et al., 2007; Zieman et al., 1984). The average size ratio of predator to prey is usually around 10 to 1, while the abundance ratio is typically the inverse (Chen and Terry, 2014; Litchman et al., 2013). Therefore, DZ must contribute substantially to the system, as a large reserve of highly abundant food source with a wide range of body dimensions. Previous studies reported that DZ are highly abundant in shallow habitats (Melo et al., 2010). DZ usually reside in the top 3 cm of the sediment, emerging in large numbers at night and occupying the water column up to 30 cm from the bottom (Alldredge and King, 1985). They only remain in the water column for a short time to avoid predators that use vision to locate their prey (Alldredge and King, 1985). In the present study, DZ abundance ranged from 4.0 to 11.3×10^4 ind.m⁻² (Fig. 5.1A), with a wide range of body sizes being detected (75 to 9100 μ m) (Table 5.1). At Fukido Estuary, the abundance of DZ was higher than that previously reported in other geographical areas. For instance, Melo et al. (2010) reported comparatively lower DZ abundance $(5 \times 10^3 \text{ ind.m}^{-2})$ in a seagrass area in the southwestern Atlantic Ocean. In comparison, the abundance of DZ in Onslow Page | 65 Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels Bay (North Carolina, USA) ranged from 1 to 6×10^4 ind.m⁻² depending on substrate structure and season (Cahoon and Tronzo, 1992).

The biomass of DZ in the 1000–2000 μ m and > 2000 μ m size classes were lower than those smaller size classes in MG compared to that in the other habitats (Fig. 5.1B). Compared to that in the other habitats in our study, the abundance of DZ in MG was intermediate, with smaller biomass. Sultana et al. (2016) reported that the sediment in mangrove habitat supports high primary production. Thus, DZ might be present in higher abundance and biomass than that detected in our study. However, our results showed that smaller DZ contributed the most to DZ biomass, indicating that higher trophic level organisms preferentially consume larger DZ (Fig. 5.1). Therefore, DZ with lower biomass and of smaller size might remain in the mangrove habitat. This suggestion is supported by the result of the mixing model used to estimate the proportion of DZ in the diet of fishes (Table 5.3). This model showed that the proportional contribution of larger DZ (500–2000 µm) were higher than that of smaller DZ (73-250 µm) in the diet of almost all mangrove fishes. Thus, consumers in the mangrove area might actively feed on more DZ than previously thought (Nakamura et al., 2008; Tue et al., 2013). This hypothesis is consistent with the stomach contents of fishes, which showed that the mangrove fishes primarily fed on DZ compared to other food sources (Table 5.2).

5.4.2 Proportional contribution of DZ in the diet of consumers

Analyzing stomach contents traditionally performs estimation of the proportional contributions of prey in the diet of consumers in coastal ecosystems. This method is convenient because it can be carried out rapidly Page | 66

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

and economically, providing a direct estimation of prey contents (Hyslop, 1980; Pasquaud et al., 2010; Winemiller et al., 2011). However, stomach content analysis has some limitations, because living organisms digest food more rapidly than non-living organic matter (Fry and Ewel, 2003). The SIAR mixing model is based on the isotopic signatures of prey and consumers and has been increasingly used to determine the proportional contributions of food sources (Parnell et al., 2010). In this study, we combined both methods (stomach content and mixing model) to clarify and highlight the contributions of DZ to the diet of fishes and macroinvertebrates at Fukido Estuary.

The mixing model showed that DZ contributed more to the diet of mangrove fishes than another food source in the MG habitat, particularly for A. semipunctata, Y. criniger, and Z. dunckeri (Table 5.3). In particular, these fish species consumed larger DZ (of 500 to 2000 µm), which were dominated by nematodes, polychaetes (larvae), copepods, amphipods, and gammarids (Table 5.1). The results of the stomach content analysis supported this observation (Table 5.2). Our results were also consistent with those of previous reports (Masuda et al., 1984; Myers, 1999; Rainboth, 1996). In comparison, crabs and shrimp contributed to the diet of F. amboinensis and C. punctata more than DZ. Other studies also reported that F. amboinensis primarily consumes small crustaceans (Masuda et al., 1984), whereas C. punctata preferentially feeds on small benthic invertebrates and small crabs (Knapp, 1999). However, our stomach content analyses of these fishes showed that they preferentially fed on nematodes and copepods compared to crabs and shrimps (Table 5.2). This discrepancy might be explained by the fact that stomach contents only reflect Page | 67

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels feeding events, rather than assimilated material; consequently, this type of analysis is biased by the differences in digestibility of prey items (Polunin and Pinnegar, 2002). Thus, the proportions of food sources based on isotopic analysis probably provide a more accurate picture of feeding behavior than stomach contents. Our results showed that mangrove fishes predominantly fed on DZ compared to other food sources. In comparison, lagoon fishes consumed more crabs, shrimps, and mollusks than DZ. These differences were supported by both the results of the mixing model (Table 5.3) and the stomach contents analysis (Table 5.2). Lagoon fishes of large body size might preferentially feed on larger food sources. This suggestion was supported by the results of the feeding preferences of Lutjanus sp., which is a migratory fish that frequents Fukido Estuary (Nakamura et al., 2008). Juvenile stage Lutjanus sp. are relatively small (around 30-125 cm) (Nakamura and Tsuchiya, 2008; Shibuno et al., 2008), and they inhabit MG as a nursery. Juvenile Lutjanus sp. consumed similar proportions of DZ (500–2000 µm) as crabs and shrimps in MG (Table 5.3), perhaps because the *Lutianus* sp. might prefer DZ than crustaceans that have hard exoskeletons. As adults, when their body size becomes greater than 150 cm, Lutjanus sp. migrate to the lagoon area (Nakamura et al., 2008), where they switch their feeding preference to crustaceans (crabs and shrimps) during ontogenetic migration (Table 5.2 and Table 5.3). Thus, DZ might be an important food source for fishes in mangrove habitats compared to other studied habitats.

Benthic macroinvertebrates are distributed in all coastal ecosystems (mangrove, seagrass and coral reef, etc.), and inhabit areas on or near the Page | 68

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels seabed (Attrill, 1998; Barnes, 2013; Castro et al., 2008; Kumar and Khan, 2013). This group exhibits diverse ecological niches and invests in a variety of feeding behaviors. For instance, there are deposit feeders (mainly polychaetes and some mollusks), detritivores (some echinoderms and crustaceans), predators (echinoderms and crustaceans), filter feeders (mainly bivalves and crustaceans), among others. Our result showed that DZ contributed more than other food sources to the diet of 2 crab species (Scylla serrata and Charybdis sp.) (Table 5.4). Other studies have also reported that these two crab species preferentially feed on fishes, crustaceans, mollusks, and polychaetes in mangrove habitats (Sara et al., 2007; Wikipedia, n.d.). The stable carbon and nitrogen isotope signature of S. serrata are comparable to that of some mangrove fishes (Z. dunckeri, A. semipunctata, and F. amboinensis) (Fig. 5.2); thus, these crabs probably feed on food sources similar to fishes, preferentially selecting large-sized DZ. This suggestion was supported by the results of the mixing model on the diet of S. serrata, which showed that they feed on larger rather than smaller DZ (Table 5.4). In contrast, some species (such as E. japonicas and C. septemspinosa) primarily consumed food sources that were derived from detritus, sediment, and plant debris rather than DZ (Table 5.4). This result supports that obtained by the previous report (Kolpakov et al., 2012). Other macroinvertebrates (except Scylla serrata and Charybdis sp.) appeared to consume similar quantities of small (73–250 μ m) and large DZ in the lagoon habitat, but preferentially fed on smaller DZ in mangrove habitat (Table 4).

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that DZ are an important food source in Fukido Estuary. The mangrove habitat supported the lowest DZ Page | 69

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels biomass and was mostly made up of small-sized DZ. Thus, higher trophic level organisms might consume large-sized DZ, resulting in the smaller sizes remaining (unconsumed) in the mangrove habitat. This suggestion supports the proportions of DZ size classes detected in the stomach contents of mangrove fishes. Large percentages of DZ were detected in the stomachs of mangrove fishes, confirming their importance as a food source. In contrast, DZ did not have a significant role in the diet of fishes in lagoon habitats compared to other food sources. The combined results of abundance and biomass with the proportions of DZ in the diet of consumers highlight the important role of DZ in the diet of active feeders in mangrove habitats compared to that in other habitats. To our knowledge, this study is the first attempt to elucidate the role of DZ within the food web of an estuary, using the stable isotope mixing model of size class and biomass combined with direct observations of stomach contents. In conclusion, we showed that the suggested approach (combining stable isotope mixed models with stomach content observations) was reliable, demonstrating that DZ of different body sizes serves as food sources for different consumers in different habitats.



Figure 5. 1 A: Abundance and Shannon index: ind. m^{-2} (mean \pm SD), Shannon diversity index (H') and **B**: Biomass within size classes of demersal zooplankton at Fukido Estuary.



Figure 5. 2 Carbon and nitrogen isotopic signatures (Mean \pm SD) of demersal zooplankton, their consumers, and other food sources in Fukido Estuary.

The symbols indicate demersal zooplankton (Δ), fishes (\Diamond), crabs (\Box), mollusks (\circ), and shrimps (x). Solid black filled symbols denote organisms collected in the mangrove, and open symbols denote samples collected from the lagoon (SG and SG+CR). Dotted lines indicate other food sources derive from mangrove (MG) and lagoon (LG) habitats. Label abbreviations are shown in Table 5.3 and Table 5.4.

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

Table 5. 1 Composition, size range, and relative abundance (%) of demersalzooplankton captured by emergence traps.

Abbreviations: MG, SG, and SG+CR denote the mangrove, seagrass and seagrass mixture coral habitats, respectively.

Taxa	Size range [µm]	MG (%)	SG (%)	SG+CR (%)
SARCOMASTIGOPHORA				
Foraminiferidae	75–250	8.1	27.8	7.1
NEMATODA	300-1200	24.3	11.1	-
MOLLUSCA				
Gastropoda (larvae)	75–350	5.4	-	-
ANNELIDA				
Polychaeta (larvae)	250-1500	2.7	-	-
ARTHROPODA				
Ostracoda		-	8.3	-
Bestiolina similis		-	-	2.9
Calanoida (copepodite)		-	-	1.4
Oithona rigida	700-800	-	-	25.7
Oithonidae (copepodite)	400-700	-	-	4.3
Cyclopoida (copepodite)	200-400	-	-	1.4
Harpacticoida	400-1000	-	5.6	2.9
Harpacticoida (copepodite)	200-700	43.2	11.1	12.9
Poecilostomatoida	250 600			13
(copepodite)	230-000	-	-	4.3
Copepoda (nauplius)	80–250	10.8	-	22.9
Cumacea	1200-9100	-	2.8	-
Isopoda	300-1500	-	22.2	4.3
Gammaridea	900-3800	5.4	11.1	4.3
Zoea of Brachyura	500-1300		-	5.7
Total taxa		7	8	13

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels

Table 5. 2 Fish in Mangrove and Lagoon habitats and the average percentage of the prey items recorded in their stomach contents in Fukido Estuary.

Cr: crabs (crab + hermit crab), Sh: shrimps, Mo: Mollusks, Demersal zooplankton (Ne: nematodes, Co: copepods, Am: amphipods, Iso: isopods, Po: polychaetes, Fo: Foraminifers), Sg: seagrass, Se: sediment, De: detritus, Other: small material and unidentified foods. TL = total length; n = number of samples

Tana	n	TL (±SD)	Stomach contents (%)												
Taxa		(mm)	Cr	Sh	Mo	Ne	Co	Am	Iso	Ро	Fo	Sg	Se	De	Other
Mangrove habitat															
Asterropteryx	5	$128.0 \pm$			10	5	10			15	5			50	5
semipunctata		17.9			10	3	10			15	3			30	3
Vonasiahthus aniniaan	2	$76.0 \pm$	2			10	10	2		25				40	10
Tongeichunys chiniger		33.9	2			10	10	5		25				40	10
Fibramia ambainansis	10	$66.3 \pm$	7	3		0	5				2		40	30	5
Fibramia amboinensis		10.3	/	5		0	5				2		40	30	5
C	3	$70.3 \pm$												80	20
Gerres Oyenu		17.9												80	20
<i>Lutjanus</i> sp.	1	120.0	20	10				10		5				10	45
Cociella pupetata	3	$112.7 \pm$	5			10	15	5		5				40	20
		4.6	5			10	15	5		5				40	20
Zenarchopterus	3	$125.7 \pm$					10			20	5		30	15	20
dunckeri		13.2					10			20	5		50	15	20
Lagoon habitat															
<i>Lutjanus</i> sp.	1	228.2	15		10			10	10					5	50
Lethrinus ornatus	1	120.0					10					8		10	72
Diodon holocanthus	1	204.0	10		20			20	10	5	5	5		20	5
Dendrochirus zebra	1	295.0		10	30									5	55

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels **Table 5. 3** Proportion of demersal zooplankton and other food sources in the diet of fishes in Fukido Estuary.

The Mean and the 90% credibility intervals (5% and 95%) of the proportions are reported for each potential food source in the fish diet. DZ.73, DZ.100, DZ.250, DZ.500, DZ.1000, and DZ.2000 denote the demersal zooplankton size classes of 73 to 100 μ m, 100 to 250 μ m, 250 to 500 μ m, 500 to 1000 μ m, 1000 to 2000 μ m, and larger than 2000 (μ m), respectively.

Fishes	Label	Animal	DZ.73	DZ.100	DZ.250	DZ.500	DZ.1000	DZ.2000	Crabs	Shrimps	Mollusks	Detritus
Mangrove habitat												
A. semipunctata	As	Fish	8.7	8.5	8.8	13.4	12.9	15.0	11.7	9.6	7.1	4.3
			(0.8–19.6)	(0.7–19.2)	(0.8–19.6)	(2.1–25.8)	(2.1–24.5)	(3.2–27.4)	(1.9–22.0)	(1.0-20.4)	(0.6–17.2)	(0.3–11.1)
Y. criniger	Yc	Fish	8.8	9.9	9.8	11.3	11.1	12.5	10.5	10.2	8.8	7.1
			(1.0–18.8)	(1.1–19.8)	(1.1–19.8)	(1.2–21.3)	(1.1–21.1)	(1.2–22.4)	(1.3–20.7)	(1.3–20.1)	(1.0–18.8)	(0.9–17.9)
F. amboinensis	Fa	Fish	6.6	7.8	6.2	11.6	8.7	13.6	19.0	15.8	8.0	2.6
			(0.6–16.3)	(0.7–18.7)	(0.6–15.5)	(1.6–23.2)	(0.9–19.7)	(2.3–25.6)	(7.5–30.6)	(3.9–28.0)	(0.8–18.1)	(0.2–6.8)
G. oyena	Go	Fish	9.3	9.4	9.2	11.1	10.8	11.9	11.8	10.8	9.0	6.7
			(0.8–19.6)	(0.9–19.9)	(0.8–19.5)	(1.4–21.6)	(1.2–21.3)	(1.7–22.8)	(1.6–22.9)	(1.2–21.5)	(0.9–19.4)	(0.5–16.3)
Lutjanus sp.	Lf	Fish	8.8	10.0	9.9	10.8	10.6	11.2	10.6	10.0	9.5	8.6
			(1.0–18.8)	(1.0-20.0)	(1.1–19.8)	(1.1–20.8)	(1.1–20.6)	(1.1–21.2)	(1.1–20.6)	(1.0-20.0)	(1.0–19.5)	(1.0–18.5)
C. punctata	Ср	Fish	8.8	9.6	8.8	11.0	10.1	11.6	13.1	11.7	9.7	5.6
			(0.8–19.0)	(1.0-20.1)	(0.9–18.8)	(1.4–21.8)	(1.1–20.7)	(1.5–22.3)	(2.6–23.1)	(1.7–22.3)	(1.0-20.1)	(0.4–14.6)
Z. dunckeri	Zd	Fish	9.8	9.2	10.1	12.1	12.6	12.9	9.7	8.6	7.6	7.3
			(1.1–20.2)	(0.9–19.4)	(1.0–20.5)	(1.9–22.5)	(2.2–22.7)	(2.6–23.3)	(1.2–19.3)	(0.8–18.3)	(0.7–17.3)	(0.8–16.1)
Lagoon habitat												
Lutjanus sp.	Lu	Fish	8.6	9.9	9.9	9.8	9.9	10.1	12.2	11.2	10.1	7.7
			(1.0–18.6)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.1–19.8)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.1-20.1)	(1.1–22.2)	(1.2–21.2)	(1.1-20.3)	(1.0–17.7)
L. ornatus	Lo	Fish	9.8	9.9	8.9	9.9	10.1	10.1	11.2	11.1	10.1	8.9
			(1.1–19.7)	(1.1–19.7)	(1.1–18.7)	(1.0–19.7)	(1.1-20.2)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.1–21.5)	(1.2–21.1)	(1.2-20.0)	(1.1–18.9)
D. holocanthus	Dh	Fish	8.7	8.9	8.9	10.0	9.9	11.1	12.4	11.2	10.2	8.7
			(1.0–18.6)	(1.1–18.9)	(1.0–18.8)	(1.0-20.1)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.1–21.1)	(1.2–22.5)	(1.1–21.3)	(1.2–20.2)	(1.0–18.8)
D. zebra	Dz	Fish	9.6	8.9	9.9	9.9	10.0	10.4	11.5	10.8	10.4	8.6
			(1.0–19.6)	(1.0–18.9)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.1-20.0)	(1.1-20.4)	(1.2–21.6)	(1.2-20.8)	(1.2-20.3)	(1.0–18.7)

Page | 75

Role of demersal zooplankton as a food source for higher trophic levels **Table 5. 4** Proportion of demersal zooplankton and other food sources in the diet of macroinvertebrates in Fukido Estuary. The Mean and the 90% credibility intervals (5% and 95%) of the proportions are reported for each potential food source in the macroinvertebrate diet. DZ.73, DZ.100, DZ.250, DZ.500, DZ.1000, and DZ.2000 denote demersal zooplankton size classes of 73 to 100 μ m, 100 to 250 μ m, 250 to 500 μ m, 500 to 1000 μ m, 1000 to 2000 μ m, and larger than 2000 (μ m), respectively. Phyto- is phytoplankton, Plant is mangrove leaves and seagrass leaves in mangrove and lagoon habitats, respectively.

Invertebrates	Label	Animal	DZ.73	DZ.100	DZ.250	DZ.500	DZ.1000	DZ.2000	Plant	Phyto-	Sediment	Detritus
Mangrove habita	t											
Scylla serrata	Sc	Crab	9.9	9.8	10.4	13.3	12.3	15.3	6.4	8.0	8.1	6.5
			(1.1–19.9)	(1.1–19.7)	(1.1-20.6)	(1.2–23.3)	(1.2–22.1)	(1.2–25.3)	(1.0–16.4)	(1.1–18.0)	(1.0–18.1)	(1.0–16.5)
Charybdis sp.	Csp	Crab	9.6	9.2	10.3	12.3	14.2	13.1	6.0	8.2	8.3	8.9
			(1.0–20.2)	(0.7–18.3)	(1.2–21.0)	(2.2–22.6)	(2.8–25.2)	(2.7–23.2)	(0.5–14.8)	(1.0–19.4)	(0.8–18.2)	(1.0–18.7)
Eriocheir	Ej	Crab	10.2	10.4	10.3	8.7	8.7	8.4	10.4	11.2	11.3	10.4
japonicas			(1.1–20.2)	(1.0-20.4)	(1.1-20.3)	(1.0–18.8)	(1.0–18.8)	(0.9–18.4)	(1.2–20.3)	(1.2–21.2)	(1.2–21.5)	(1.2–20.5)
Crangon	Cs	Shrimp	10.2	10.1	9.9	8.6	8.7	8.6	10.2	10.5	11.9	11.3
septemspinosa			(1.1–20.2)	(1.0–19.9)	(1.0–19.9)	(0.9–18.6)	(1.0–18.8)	(1.0–18.6)	(1.2–20.2)	(1.1-20.5)	(1.1–21.8)	(1.3–21.3)
Unidentified		Mollusk	10.0	9.9	10.0	9.8	9.7	9.8	10.3	10.9	11.2	11.5
			(1.1–20.1)	(1.1-20.0)	(1.1-20.0)	(1.0–19.8)	(1.0–19.8)	(1.0–19.8)	(1.2–20.5)	(1.1-20.9)	(1.1–21.2)	(1.1–21.5)
Lagoon habitat												
Unidentified		Crab	9.5	9.1	9.9	9.4	9.8	9.3	11.0	10.4	10.4	11.1
			(1.0–19.5)	(0.9–19.1)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.0–19.3)	(1.1–19.7)	(0.9–19.1)	(1.4–20.8)	(1.2-20.1)	(1.3-20.2)	(1.6–20.8)
Unidentified		Shrimp	9.9	9.9	10.0	9.9	10.0	9.9	10.3	10.0	11.3	10.2
			(1.1–19.8)	(1.1–19.8)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.0-20.0)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.2-20.1)	(1.1-20.0)	(1.1–21.3)	(1.1–20.2)
Unidentified		Mollusk	9.9	9.9	9.9	10.0	10.1	10.0	10.3	9.9	10.0	10.1
			(1.1–19.8)	(1.1–19.7)	(1.0-20.0)	(1.0–19.8)	(1.2–20.2)	(1.1–19.9)	(1.2–20.5)	(1.0-20.0)	(1.0–19.7)	(1.1-20.1)

CHAPTER 6

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Chapter 6

General conclusions

6.1. Findings

This study provides a new result of stable carbon and nitrogen isotope combines with stomach content analysis to clarify the role of demersal zooplankton as a linkage from lower to higher trophic level in the shallow ecosystem.

In order to estimate the proportion of food source in the diet of demersal zooplankton in a shallow ecosystem. The trophic enrichment factor of zooplankton was determined by an experiment using *Artemia salina* and a monoculture of the diatom *Nitzschia* sp. as a food source. The result of natural stable carbon and nitrogen isotope of *Artemia salina* at a different stage in their life cycle and *Nitzschia* sp. shows that the TEFs of zooplankton were determined when the dual carbon and nitrogen isotopic reached to equilibrium isotope at day 25 after hatching with the discrimination between *Artemia salina* and its food source were mean (\pm SD): 0.0 ± 0.9 (‰) for Δ^{13} C and 1.0 ± 0.5 (‰) for Δ^{15} N.

The trophic enrichment factors of zooplankton were applied to assess the food source of demersal zooplankton in a reef lagoon. This study was conducted in the reef lagoon at Bise in 3 selections habitat (SG, SG+CR, and CR). The result of a mixing model based on the natural stable carbon and nitrogen isotope highlights the role of organic matter derived from SG particularly SG detritus influencing the abundance of DZ in SG and SG+CR habitats. Phytoplankton and macro algae play an important role as a food source for DZ in the reef lagoon. Demersal zooplankton consume on available food sources near their living area.

Demersal zooplankton distribute in a shallow ecosystem with high abundance suggest that they may contribute in major proportion to the diet of higher trophic levels in an aquatic food web. Moreover, demersal zooplankton exhibits wide size range, therefore it is expected that consumers preferentially feed on different size classes of DZ. The study on the role of DZ as a food source in an aquatic food web at Fukido estuary combined stomach content analysis (to find out the potential food source of consumers) and stable isotope analysis (to assess the proportion of DZ compare against another food sources). The stable isotope mixing model result highlights the important role of DZ in the diet of active feeders in mangrove habitats compared to that in another studied habitats. The abundance and biomass of demersal zooplankton were consistent with DZ proportion in the diet of consumers. The consumers (fishes and macro invertebrate) prefer on larger size classes of DZ and remaining small size classes that mostly contribute in the biomass of DZ in mangrove habitat. In contrast, the larger size of DZ were composed in DZ biomass at lagoon habitat, there were consumers with larger body size prefer more on large-sized prey than DZ.

6.2. Further research

Although, this study demonstrated that demersal zooplankton play an important role as a linkage transferring that organic sources to higher trophic levels. However, there are many physical factors acting and biological influence on the shallow coastal environment. Therefore, we propose further research to understand the demersal zooplankton community and the changing in an aquatic food web in shallow coastal ecosystem including:

1) The community structure of demersal zooplankton versus net zooplankton and their relative contribution in the biomass of the shallow ecosystems. 2) The multi-factor (i.e. tide, season) impact to the community structure and the role of demersal zooplankton in an estuarine ecosystem.

3) Changing of the food web under the multiple environmental stress (elevated temperature, acidification, and salinity) in the shallow ecosystems.

References

- Alldredge, A.L., King, J.M., 1985. The distance demersal zooplankton migrate above the benthos: implications for predation. Mar. Biol. 84, 253–260. doi:10.1007/BF00392494
- Alldredge, A.L., King, J.M., 1980. Effects of moonlight on the vertical migration patterns of demersal zooplankton. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 44, 133–156. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(80)90150-1
- Attrill, M., 1998. The benthic macroinvertebrate communities of the Thames estuary, in: Attrill, M.J. (Ed.), A Rehabilitated Estuarine Ecosystem: The Environment and Ecology of the Thames Estuary. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 85–113. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-8708-2_6
- Barnes, R.S.K., 2013. Distribution patterns of macrobenthic biodiversity in the intertidal seagrass beds of an estuarine system, and their conservation significance. Biodivers. Conserv. 22, 357–372.
- Beck, M.W., Heck, K.L.J., Able, K.W., Childers, D.L., Eggleston, D.B., Gillanders, B.M., Halpern, B., Hays, C.G., Hoshino, K., Minello, T.J., Orth, R.J., Sheridan, P.F., Weingstein, M.P., 2001. The identification, conservation, and management of estuarine and marine nurseries for fish and invertebrates. Bioscience 51, 633–641. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0633:TICAMO]2.0.CO;2
- Boltovskoy, D., 1999. South Atlantic Zooplankton. Backhuys Publisher, Leiden, The Netherland.
- Bond, A.L., Diamond, A.W., 2011. Recent Bayesian stable-isotope mixing models are highly sensitive to variation in discrimination factors. Ecol. Appl. 21, 1017–1023. doi:10.1890/09-2409.1

- Borowitzka, M.A., Lavery, P.S., Keulen, van M., 2006. Epiphytes of Seagrasses, in: Seagrass: Biology, Ecology and Conservation. Springer, pp. 441–461.
- Boschker, H., Wielemaker, A., Schaub, B., Holmer, M., 2000. Limited coupling of macrophyte production and bacterial carbon cycling in the sediments of Zostera spp. meadows. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 203, 181–189. doi:10.3354/meps203181
- Bouillon, S., Borges, A., Casta, Eda-Moya, E., Diele, K., Dittmar, T., Duke, N., Kristensen, E., Lee, S., Marchand, C., Middelburg, J., Rivera-Monroy, V., Thomas, Twilley, R., 2008. Mangrove production and carbon sinks: A revision of global budget estimates. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 22, 1–12.
- Bouillon, S., Connolly, R., 2009. Carbon Exchange Among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems, in: Nagelkerken, I. (Ed.), Ecological Connectivity among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems. Springer Netherlands, pp. 45–70.
- Bunn, S.E., Loneragan, N.R., Kempster, M. a., 1995. Effects of acid washing on stable isotope ratios of C and N in penaeid shrimp and seagrass: implications for food-web studies using multiple stable isotopes. Limnol Ocean. 40, 622– 625.
- Cahoon, L.B., Tronzo, C.R., 1992. Quantitative estimates of demersal zooplankton abundance in Onslow Bay, North Carolina, USA. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 87, 197–200. doi:10.3354/meps087197
- Carman, K.R., Fry, B., 2002. Small-sample methods for δ13C and δ15N analysis of the diets of marsh meiofaunal species using natural-abundance and traceraddition isotope techniques. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 240, 85–92. doi:10.3354/meps240085

- Castro, P., Huber, M.E., Ober, W.C., Garrison, C.W., 2008. Marine Biology, 7th ed. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Caut, S., Angulo, E., Courchamp, F., 2009. Variation in discrimination factors (Δ15N and Δ13C): The effect of diet isotopic values and applications for diet reconstruction. J. Appl. Ecol. 46, 443–453. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01620.x
- Cebrian, J., 1999. Patterns in the Fate of Production in Plant Communities. Am. Nat. 154, 449–468. doi:10.1086/303244
- Chen, J., Terry, W., 2014. The effect of interference competition in Asplanchna brightwelli on its predation capacity. J. Plankton Res. 36, 1391–1395. doi:10.1093/plankt/fbu062
- Chew, L.L., Chong, V.C., Tanaka, K., Sasekumar, A., 2012. Phytoplankton fuel the energy flow from zooplankton to small nekton in turbid mangrove waters. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 469, 7–24. doi:10.3354/meps09997
- Coull, B.C., 1999. Role of meiofauna in estuarine soft-bottom habitats. Aust. J. Ecol. 24, 327–343. doi:10.1046/j.1442-9993.1999.00979.x
- Danovaro, R., 1996. Detritus-Bacteria-Meiofauna interactions in a seagrass bed (Posidonia oceanica) of the NW Mediterranean. Mar. Biol. 127, 1–13. doi:10.1007/BF00993638
- De Carvalho, M.C., Hayashizaki, K.I., Ogawa, H., 2009. Carbon stable isotope discrimination: A possible growth index for the kelp Undaria pinnatifida. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 381, 71–82. doi:10.3354/meps07948
- Deniro, M.J., Epstein, S., 1981. Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 45, 341–351.

DeNiro, M.J., Epstein, S., 1997. Mechanism of carbon isotope fractionation Page | 82 associated with lipid synthesis. Science (80-.). 197, 261–263.

- Dionne, K., Dufresne, F., Nozais, C., 2016. Variation in δ13C and δ15N trophic enrichment factors among Hyalella azteca amphipods from different lakes. Hydrobiologia. doi:10.1007/s10750-016-2846-z
- Duarte, C.M., 1989. Temporal biomass variability and production/biomass relationships of seagrass communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 51, 269–276. doi:10.3354/meps051269
- Duarte, C.M., Cebrián, J., 1996. The fate of marine autotrophic production. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41, 1758–1766. doi:10.4319/lo.1996.41.8.1758
- Escaravage, V., Garcia, M.E., Castel, J., 1989. The distribution of meiofauna and its contribution to detritic pathways in tidal flats (Arcachon Bay, France), in: Ros, J.D. (Ed.), Topics in Marine Biology: Proceedings of the 22nd European Marine Biology Symposium, Barcelona, Spain, August 1987. Scientia Marina (Barcelona), pp. 145–754.
- Fernandes, S.C., 2009. Functional role of macrobenthos in estuarine sediment dynamics. Dessertation Ph.D. Environmental Engineering, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Supervisor: Luca van Duren, pp.219.
- Focken, U., Becker, K., 1998. Metabolic fractionation of stable carbon isotopes: implications of different proximate compositions for studies of the aquatic food webs using δ 13C data. Oecologia 115, 337–343.
- França, S., Vasconcelos, R.P., Tanner, S., Máguas, C., Costa, M.J., Cabral, H.N., 2011. Assessing food web dynamics and relative importance of organic matter sources for fish species in two Portuguese estuaries: A stable isotope approach. Mar. Environ. Res. 72, 204–215.
- Fry, B., 2007. Stable Isotope Ecology. Springer, New York, USA.

- Fry, B., Ewel, K.C., 2003. Using stable isotopes in mangrove fisheries research
 A review and outlook. Isotopes Environ. Health Stud. 39, 191–196.
- Gorokhova, E., Hansson, S., 1999. An experimental study on variations in stable carbon and nitrogen isotope fractionation during growth of Mysis mixta and Neomysis integer. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56, 2203–2210. doi:10.1139/f99-149
- Hammer, R.M., 1981. Day-night differences in the emergence of demersal zooplankton from a sand substrate in a kelp forest. Mar. Biol. 62, 275–280. doi:10.1007/BF00397694
- Healy, K., Kelly, S.B.A., Guillerme, T., Inger, R., Jackson, A.L., 2016. Predicting trophic discrimination factor using bayesian inference and phylogenetic, ecological and physiological data. DEsIR: Discrimination Estimation in R. PeerJ. doi:https://doi.org/10.7287/peerj.preprints.1950v1
- Heidelberg, K.B., O'Neil, K.L., Bythell, J.C., Sebens, K.P., 2010. Vertical distribution and diel patterns of zooplankton abundance and biomass at Conch Reef, Florida Keys (USA). J. Plankton Res. 32, 75–91. doi:10.1093/plankt/fbp101
- Heip, C.H.R., Vincx, M., Vranken, G., 1985. The Ecology Of Marine Nematodes. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. an Annu. Rev. 23, 399–489.
- Helland, S., Triantaphyllidis, G. V., Fyhn, H.J., Evjen, M.S., Lavens, P., Sorgeloos, P., Helland S., Triantaphyllidis G. V., Fylhn H. J., Evjen M. S., L.P. and S.P., 2000. Modulation of the free amino acid pool and protein content in populations of the brine shrimp Artemia spp. Mar. Biol. 137, 1005–1016. doi:10.1007/s002270000409

Herzka, S.Z., 2005. Assessing connectivity of estuarine fishes based on stable

isotope ratio analysis. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 64, 58–69. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2005.02.006

- Hobson, E.S., Chess, J.R., 1979. Zooplankters That Emerge From the Lagoon Floor At Night At Kure and Midway Atolls, Hawaii. Fish. Bull. 77, 275– 280.
- Hopkins, J.B., Ferguson, J.M., 2012. Estimating the Diets of Animals Using Stable Isotopes and a Comprehensive Bayesian Mixing Model. PLoS One 7, e28478. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028478
- Hyndes, G.A., Lavery, P.S., 2005. Does transported seagrass provide an important trophic link in unvegetated, nearshore areas? Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 63, 633–643. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2005.01.008
- Hyslop, E.J., 1980. Stomach contents analysis a review of methods and their application. J. Fish Biol 1741, 1–429. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02775.x
- Jackson, A.L., Inger, R., Bearhop, S., Parnell, A., 2009. Erroneous behaviour of MixSIR, a recently published Bayesian isotope mixing model: A discussion of Moore & Semmens (2008). Ecol. Lett. 12, 1–5. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01233.x
- Jacob, U., Mintenbeck, K., Brey, T., Knust, R., Beyer, K., 2005. Stable isotope food web studies: A case for standardized sample treatment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 287, 251–253. doi:10.3354/meps287251
- Jaxion-Harm, J., Saunders, J., Speight, M.R., 2012. Distribution of fish in seagrass, mangroves and coral reefs: Life-stage dependent habitat use in Honduras. Rev. Biol. Trop. 60, 683–698. doi:10.15517/rbt.v60i2.3984

Jayabarathi, R., Padmavati, G., Anandavelu, I., 2012. Abundance and Species

Composition of Harpacticoid Copepods from a Sea Grass Patch of South Andaman, India. Curr. Res. J. Biol. Sci. 4, 717–724.

- Kainz, M.J., Arts, M.T., Mazumder, A., 2004. Essential fatty acids in the planktonic food web and their ecological role for higher trophic levels. Limnol. Oceanogr. 49, 1784–1793. doi:10.4319/lo.2004.49.5.1784
- Kaldy, J.E., Onuf, C.P., Eldridge, P.M., Cifuentes, L.A., 2002. Carbon budget for a subtropical seagrass dominated coastal lagoon: How important are seagrasses to total ecosystem net primary production? Estuaries 25, 528– 539. doi:10.1007/BF02804888
- Kang, C.K., Sauriau, P.G., Richard, P., Blanchard, G.F., 1999. Food sources of the infaunal suspension-feeding bivalve Cerastoderma edule in a muddy sandflat of Marennes-Oleron Bay, as determined by analyses of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 187, 147–158. doi:10.3354/meps187147
- Kharlamenko, V.I., Kiyashko, S.I., Rodkina, S.A., Imbs, A.B., 2008.
 Determination of food sources of marine invertebrates from a subtidal sand community using analyses of fatty acids and stable isotopes. Russ. J. Mar. Biol. 34, 101–109. doi:10.1134/S106307400802003X
- King, R.A., Read, D.S., Traugott, M., Symondson, W.O.C., 2008. Molecular analysis of predation: A review of best practice for DNA-based approaches. Mol. Ecol. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03613.x
- Knapp, L.W., 1999. Platycephalidae. Flatheads, in: Carpenter, K.E., Niem, V.H. (Eds.), FAO Species Identification Guide for Fishery Purposes. The Living Marine Resources of the Western Central Pacific. Volume 4. FAO, Rome, pp. 2385–2421.

- Kolpakov, N. V, Semenkova, E.G., Shuntov, V.P., 2012. Japanese mitten crab of Primorye. TINRO-Centre, Russia, Vladivostok.
- Kristensen, E., Bouillon, S., Dittmar, T., Marchand, C., 2008. Organic carbon dynamics in mangrove ecosystems: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 201–219.
- Kumar, P.S., Khan, A.B., 2013. The distribution and diversity of benthic macroinvertebrate fauna in Pondicherry mangroves, India. Aquat. Biosyst. 9, 1–18. doi:10.1186/2046-9063-9-15
- Kurosawa, K., 2003. Analysis of the nitrogen cycling in Fukido mangrove estuary. Grad. Sch. Sci. Technol. [Ph.D. thesis] Graduate School of Science and Technology, Shizuoka Universiy.
- Larkum, A., Orth, R.J., Duarte, C., 2007. Seagrasses: Biology, Ecology and Conservation. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Lavens, P., Léger, P., Sorgeloos, P., 1989. Manipulation on fatty acid profile in Artemia offspring produced in intensive culture system. Aquac. - A Biotechnol. Prog.
- Layman, C.A., Araujo, M.S., Boucek, R., Hammerschlag-Peyer, C.M., Harrison, E., Jud, Z.R., Matich, P., Rosenblatt, A.E., Vaudo, J.J., Yeager, L.A., Post, D.M., Bearhop, S., 2012. Applying stable isotopes to examine food-web structure: an overview of analytical tools. Biol. Rev. 87, 545–562. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00208.x
- Le Loc'h, F., Hily, C., Grall, J., 2008. Benthic community and food web structure on the continental shelf of the Bay of Biscay (North Eastern Atlantic) revealed by stable isotopes analysis. J. Mar. Syst. 72, 17–34. doi:10.1016/j.jmarsys.2007.05.011

Lebreton, B., Richard, P., Galois, R., Radenac, G., Brahmia, A., Colli, G.,

Page | 87

Grouazel, M., André, C., Guillou, G., Blanchard, G.F., 2012. Food sources used by sediment meiofauna in an intertidal Zostera noltii seagrass bed: A seasonal stable isotope study. Mar. Biol. 159, 1537–1550. doi:10.1007/s00227-012-1940-7

- Lebreton, B., Richard, P., Galois, R., Radenac, G., Pfléger, C., Guillou, G., Mornet, F., Blanchard, G.F., 2011. Trophic importance of diatoms in an intertidal Zostera noltii seagrass bed: Evidence from stable isotope and fatty acid analyses. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 92, 140–153. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2010.12.027
- Leduc, D., Probert, P.K., Duncan, A., 2009. A multi-method approach for identifying meiofaunal trophic connections. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 383, 95– 111. doi:10.3354/meps07991
- Litchman, E., Ohman, M.D., Kiørboe, T., 2013. Trait-based approaches to zooplankton communities. J. Plankton Res. 35, 473–484. doi:10.1093/plankt/fbt019
- Logan, J.M., Jardine, T.D., Miller, T.J., Bunn, S.E., Cunjak, R.A., Lutcavage, M.E., 2008. Lipid corrections in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope analyses: comparison of chemical extraction and modelling methods. J. Anim. Ecol. 77, 838–846.
- Macko, S. a, Lee, W.Y., Parker, P.L., 1982. Nitrogen and carbon isotope fractionation by two species of marine amphipods: laboratory and field studies. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 63, 145–149. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(82)90028-4
- Marguillier, S., Velde, G. van der, Dehairs, F., Hemminga, M., Rajagopal, S., 1997. Trophic relationships in an interlinked mangrove-seagrass ecosystem

as traced by $\delta 13C$ and $\delta 15N$. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 151, 115–121.

- Mascart, T., 2010. The role of meiofauna in the energy transfer in a Mediterranean seagrass bed (Calvi, Corsica). Marine and Lacustrine Sciences, Ghent University, Supervisor: Marleen De Troch.
- Masuda, H., K. Amaoka, C., Araga, T., Uyeno, Yoshino, T., 1984. The fishes of the Japanese Archipelago. Tokai University Press, Tokyo, Japan.
- Mateo, M.A., Serrano, O., Serrano, L., Michener, R.H., 2008. Effects of sample preparation on stable isotope ratios of carbon and nitrogen in marine invertebrates: implications for food web studies using stable isotopes. Oecologia 157, 105–115.
- Matley, J.K., Fisk, A.T., Tobin, A.J., Heupel, M.R., Simpfendorfer, C.A., 2016.
 Diet-tissue discrimination factors and turnover of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in tissues of an adult predatory coral reef fish, Plectropomus leopardus. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 30, 29–44. doi:10.1002/rcm.7406
- Mcfarland, W.N., Ogden, J.C., Lythgoes, J.N., 1979. The influence of light on the twilight migrations of grunts. Environ. Biol. Fishes 4, 9–22.
- Meier-Augenstein, W., 2002. Stable isotope analysis of fatty acids by gas chromatography- isotope ratio mass spectrometry. Anal. Chim. Acta 465, 63–79. doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(02)00194-0
- Melo, P.A.M.C., Silva, T.A., Neumann-Leitão, S., Schwamborn, R., Gusmão, L.M.O., Porto Neto, F., 2010. Demersal zooplankton communities from tropical habitats in the southwestern Atlantic. Mar. Biol. Res. 6, 530–541. doi:10.1080/17451000903426557

Michener, R., Kaufman, L., 2008. Stable isotope ratios as tracers in marine food

Page | 89

webs: An update, in: Michener, R., Lajtha, K. (Eds.), Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp. 238–282.

- Michener, R., Lajtha, K., 2008. Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science, second. ed. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Moncreiff, C.A., Sullivan, M.J., Daehnick, A.E., 1992. Primary production dynamics in seagrass beds of Mississippi Sound: the contributions of seagrass, epiphytic algae, sand microflora, and phytoplankton. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 87, 161–171. doi:10.3354/meps087161
- Moore, J.W., Semmens, B.X., 2008. Incorporating uncertainty and prior information into stable isotope mixing models. Ecol. Lett. 11, 470–480. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01163.x
- Morgan, S.G., 1990. Impact of planktivorous fishes on dispersal, hatching, and morphology of estuarine crab larvae. Ecology 71, 1639–1652.
- Muller-Solger, A.B., Jassby, A.D., Muller-Navarra, D.C., 2002. Nutritional quality of food resources for zooplankton (Daphnia) in a tidal freshwater system (Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta). Limnol. Oceanogr. 47, 1468–1476.
- Mumby, P.J., Hastings, A., 2008. The impact of ecosystem connectivity on coral reef resilience. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 854–862. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01459.x
- Myers, R.F., 1999. Micronesian Reef Fishes: A Comprehensive Guide to the Coral Reef Fishes of Micronesia, 3rd ed. Coral Graphics, Barrigada, Territory of Guam, USA.

Nagelkerken, I., 2009. Ecological connectivity among tropical coastal

Page | 90

ecosystems, Ecological Connectivity among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems. doi:10.1007/978-90-481-2406-0

- Nakamura, Y., Horinouchi, M., Shibuno, T., Tanaka, Y., Miyajima, T., Koike, I., Kurokura, H., Sano, M., 2008. Evidence of ontogenetic migration from mangroves to coral reefs by black-tail snapper Lutjanus fulvus: stable isotope approach. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 355, 257–266. doi:10.3354/meps07234
- Nakamura, Y., Kawasaki, H., Sano, M., 2007. Experimental analysis of recruitment patterns of coral reef fishes in seagrass beds: Effects of substrate type, shape, and rigidity. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 71, 559–568. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2006.09.005
- Nakamura, Y., Tsuchiya, M., 2008. Spatial and temporal patterns of seagrass habitat use by fishes at the Ryukyu Islands, Japan. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 76, 345–356. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2007.07.014
- Nihei, Y., Nadaoka, K., Aoki, Y., Wakaki, K., Yai, H., Furukawa, K., 2002. An intensive field survey of physical environments in a mangrove forest, in:
 12th International Society of Offshore and Polar Engineers. ISOPE, Kitakyushu, Japan, pp. 357–361.
- Ogden, J.C., Zieman, J.C., 1977. Ecological aspects of coral reef-seagrass bed contacts in the Caribbean. D.L. Taylor Proc. Third Int. Coral Reef Symp. Vol. 1: B, 377–382.
- Pacella, S.R., Lebreton, B., Richard, P., Phillips, D., DeWitt, T.H., Niquil, N., 2013. Incorporation of diet information derived from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models into mass-balanced marine ecosystem models: A case study from the Marennes-Oléron Estuary, France. Ecol. Modell. 267, 127–137.
doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.07.018

- Parnell, A., Jackson, A., 2013. SIAR: Stable Isotope Analysis in R. R Packag. version 4.2.
- Parnell, A.C., Inger, R., Bearhop, S., Jackson, A.L., 2010. Source partitioning using stable isotopes: Coping with too much variation. PLoS One 5, 1–5. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009672
- Parnell, A.C., Phillips, D.L., Bearhop, S., Semmens, B.X., Ward, E.J., Moore, J.W., Jackson, A.L., Grey, J., Kelly, D.J., Inger, R., 2013. Bayesian stable isotope mixing models. Environmetrics 24, 387–399.
- Pasquaud, S., Pillet, M., David, V., Sautour, B., Elie, P., 2010. Determination of fish trophic levels in an estuarine system. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 86, 237– 246.
- Peterson, B.J., Fry, B., 1987. Stable Isotopes in Ecosystem Studies. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 18, 293–320.
- Pinnegar, J.K., Polunin, N.V.C., 1999. Differential fractionation of δ13C and δ15N among fish tissues: Implications for the study of trophic interactions.
 Funct. Ecol. 13, 225–231. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2435.1999.00301.x
- Polunin, N.V.C., Pinnegar, J.K., 2002. Trophic Ecology and the Structure of Marine Food Webs, in: Hart, J.B.P., Reynolds, D.J. (Eds.), Handbook of Fish Biology and Fisheries. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK., pp. 301–320. doi:10.1002/9780470693803.ch14
- Post, D.M., 2002. Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. Ecology 83, 703–718. doi:Doi 10.2307/3071875
- Prusińska, M., Kushniryk, O., Khudyi, O., Khuda, L., Kolman, R., 2015. Impact of enriching larval brine shrimp (Artemia sp.) with a supplement containing Page | 92

polyunsaturated fatty acids on their growth and mortality. Arch. Polish Fish. 23, 149–154. doi:10.1515/aopf-2015-0017

- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Rainboth, W.J., 1996. Fishes of the Cambodian Mekong. FAO species identification field guide for fishery purposes. FAO, Rome.
- Ruiz, O., Medina, G.R., Cohen, R.G., Amat, F., Navarro, J.C., 2007. Diversity of the fatty acid composition of Artemia spp. cysts from Argentinean populations. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 335, 155–165. doi:10.3354/meps335155
- Sara, L., Ingles, J. a, Baldevarona, R.B., Aguilar, R.O., Laureta, L. V, Watanabe, S., 2007. Reproductive Biology of Mud Crab Scylla serrata in Lawele Bay, Southeast Sulawesi, Indonesia. Philipp. Agric. Sci. 90, 88–95.
- Schaal, G., Riera, P., Leroux, C., 2008. Trophic coupling between two adjacent benthic food webs within a man-made intertidal area: A stable isotopes evidence. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 77, 523–534. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2007.10.008
- Sheaves, M., 2005. Nature and consequences of biological connectivity in mangrove systems. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 302, 293–305. doi:10.3354/meps302293
- Shibuno, T., Nakamura, Y., Horinouchi, M., Sano, M., 2008. Habitat use patterns of fishes across the mangrove-seagrass-coral reef seascape at Ishigaki Island, southern Japan. Ichthyol. Res. 55, 218–237.
- Smith, D.F., Bulleid, N.C., Campbell, R., Higgins, H.W., Rowe, F., Tranter, D.J., Tranter, H., 1979. Marine food-web analysis: An experimental study of demersal zooplankton using isotopically labelled prey species. Mar. Biol. 54, 49–59. doi:10.1007/BF00387051

- Sogard, S.M., 1984. Utilization of meiofauna as a food source by a grassbed fish, the spotted dragonet Callionymus pauciradiatus. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 17, 183–191.
- Sultana, R., Casareto, B.E., Sohrin, R., Suzuki, T., Fujimura, H., Suzuki, Y., 2016. Response of Subtropical Coastal Sediment Systems of Okinawa, Japan, to Experimental Warming and High pCO2. Front. Mar. Sci. 3, 1–14. doi:10.3389/fmars.2016.00100
- Tieszen, L.L., Boutton, T.W., Tesdahl, K.G., Slade, N.A., 1983. Fractionation and turnover of stable carbon isotopes in animal tissues: Implications for δ13C analysis of diet. Oecologia 57, 32–37. doi:10.1007/BF00379558
- Toi, H.T., Boeckx, P., Sorgeloos, P., Bossier, P., Van Stappen, G., 2013. Cofeeding of microalgae and bacteria may result in increased N assimilation in Artemia as compared to mono-diets, as demonstrated by a 15N isotope uptake laboratory study. Aquaculture 422–423, 109–114. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.12.005
- Touchette, B.W., 2007. The biology and ecology of seagrasses. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 350, 1–2. doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2007.06.013
- Tue, N.T., Hamaoka, H., Quy, T.D., Nhuan, M.T., Sogabe, A., Nam, N.T., Omori, K., 2013. Dual isotope study of food sources of a fish assemblage in the Red River mangrove ecosystem, Vietnam. Hydrobiologia 1–13. doi:10.1007/s10750-013-1737-9
- Valentine, J.F., Jr, K.L.H., Blackmon, D., Goecker, M.E., Christian, J., Kroutil, R.M., Peterson, B.J., Vanderklift, M.A., Kevin, D., Beck, M., Heck, K.L., Lincoln, P., 2008. Exploited Species Impacts on Trophic Linkages along Reef-Seagrass Interfaces in the Florida Keys. Ecol. Soc. Americ 18 (6),

1501–1515.

- Vander Zanden, M.J., Clayton, M.K., Moody, E.K., Solomon, C.T., Weidel, B.C., 2015. Stable isotope turnover and half-life in animal tissues: A literature synthesis. PLoS One 10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116182
- Vander Zanden, M.J., Rasmussen, J.B., 2001. Variation in delta N-15 and delta C-13 trophic fractionation: Implications for aquatic food web studies. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46, 2061–2066.
- Vinagre, C., Máguas, C., Cabral, H.N., Costa, M.J., 2012. Food web structure of the coastal area adjacent to the Tagus estuary revealed by stable isotope analysis. J. Sea Res. 67, 21–26.
- Watanabe, S., Kodama, M., Sumbing, J.G., Lebata-Ramos, M.J.H., 2013. Diettissue Stable Isotopic Fractionation of Tropical Sea Cucumber, Holothuria scabra. Japan Agric. Res. Q. JARQ 47, 127–134. doi:10.6090/jarq.47.127
- Weinstein, M.P., Heck, K.L., 1979. Ichthyofauna of seagrass meadows along the Caribbean coast of Panamá and in the Gulf of Mexico: Composition, structure and community ecology. Mar. Biol. 50, 97–107. doi:10.1007/BF00397814
- Wikipedia, n.d. Kinetic fractionation [WWW Document]. URL https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kinetic_fractionation (accessed 5.10.17a).
- Wikipedia, n.d. Charbdis (genus) [WWW Document]. URL https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Charybdis_(genus) (accessed 9.20.16b).
- Winemiller, K.O., Zeug, S.C., Robertson, C.R., Winemiller, B.K., Honeycutt, R.L., 2011. Food-web structure of coastal streams in Costa Rica revealed by dietary and stable isotope analyses. J. Trop. Ecol. 27, 463–476.

Youngbluth, M.J., 1982. Sampling demersal zooplankton: A comparison of field Page | 95 collections using three different emergence traps. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 61, 111–124. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(82)90001-6

- Zhang, X., Xiao, Y., Wan, H., Deng, Z., Pan, G., Xia, J., 2016. Using stable hydrogen and oxygen isotopes to study water movement in soil-plantatmosphere continuum at Poyang Lake wetland, China. Wetl. Ecol. Manag. doi:10.1007/s11273-016-9511-1
- Zieman, J.C., Macko, S.A., Mills, A.L., 1984. Role of Seagrasses and Mangroves in Estuarine Food Webs: Temporal and Spatial Changes in Stable Isotope Composition and Amino Acid Content During Decomposition. Bull. Mar. Sci. 35, 380–392.

List of appendices of Chapter 3

A – 3.1 The Correlation coefficient between 13 C, 15 N and C/N ratio of Artemia salina during their life cycle



List of appendices of Chapter 4

A – 4.1 Number courting of demersal zooplankton (individual) collected in reef lagoon at Bise

Таха	Size range [µm]	CR	SG	SG+CR
SARCOMASTIGOPHORA				
Granuloreticulosea				
Foraminiferida		20	90	
NEMATODA			30	
MOLLUSCA				
Gastropoda				
Gastropoda larva	100 - 250	70	90	120
ANNELIDA				
Polychaeta				
Polychaeta (larvae)	300 - 9000	950	1620	3030
ARTHROPODA				
Maxillopoda				
Ostracoda		20	30	
Acartia japonica		20		30
Acartia (copepodite)		10		
Undinula vulgaris			30	
Calanidae (copepodite)				30
Paracalanidae (copepodite)	250 - 500	20		
Calanopia minor		40	30	60
Calanopia thompsoni	2200 - 2500	360	1560	990
Pontellidae (copepodite)				
Oithona oculata	650 - 800	90	540	450

Oithona rigida		10	120	
Oithonidae (copepodite)	300 - 600	120	300	240
Cyclopoida	300 - 650	160	270	240
Cyclopoida (copepodite)		2.8	100	90
Microsetella (copepodite)				
Harpacticoida	300 - 900	240	540	750
Harpacticoida (copepodite)	200 - 600	330	300	600
Corycaeidae (copepodite)		0.3	10	
Oncaea zernovi				30
Poecilostomatoida	700 - 800	30	150	180
Poecilostomatoida (copepodit	e)	2.2	80	210
Monstrilloida (copepodite)				
Copepoda (nauplius)	100 - 450	230	420	390
Facetotecta (nauplius)		10		
Cirripedia (nauplius)		30	90	120
Cirripedia (cypris)			90	
Molacostraca				
Mysidacea			30	90
Cumacea		20	240	30
Isopoda	400 - 1000	370	1500	1230
Gammaridea	1000 - 3000	100	270	270
Anomura (zoea)		10		30
Anomura (glaucothoe)			30	
Brachyura (zoea)	800 - 2200	50	180	150
Decapoda (zoea)	1100 - 3000	40	300	330
Decapoda (mysis)	1000 - 3000	50	180	240

CHORDATA

Osteichthyes			
Osteichthyes (larvae)			30
Total taxa	29	28	29
Total individual	3590	9330	9990

A - 4.3 The dominant species of demersal zooplankton in difference fraction size classes

Size classes	Dominate of zooplankton group		
73 - 100	Nauplius of Copepoda		
100 - 250	Nauplius of Copepoda, Harpacticoida, Paracalanius sp. (Copepoda)		
250 - 500	Copepoda, Nauplius of Cirripedia, Isopoda, Paracalanius sp.		
500 - 1000	Copepoda, Nauplius of Cirripedia, Isopoda, Zoea of Brachyura, Polychaeta larvae		
1000 - 2000	Copepoda, Isopoda, Gammaridea (Amphipoda), Zoea of Brachyura, Zoea and Mysis of Decapoda, Polychaeta larvae		
2000 - 4000	Gammaridea (Amphipoda), Mysidacea, Anomura, Cumacea, Zoea and Megalop of Brachyura, Zoea and Mysis of Decapoda, Polychaeta larvae, Shrimp larvae (Mysis)		
> 4000	Amphipoda, Cumacea, Polychaeta, Anomura, Mysidacea, Shrimp larvae		

A - 4.3 Proportion of potential food sources in the diet of demersal zooplankton in seagrass habitat – Bise lagoon, Okinawa Islands.

Group 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 denote demersal zooplankton size classes of 73, 100, 250, 500, 1000, 2000, and 4000 μ m, respectively.



A - 4.4 Proportion of potential food sources in the diet of demersal zooplankton in seagrass mixture coral habitat – Bise lagoon, Okinawa Islands.

Group 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 denote demersal zooplankton size classes of 73, 100, 250, 500, 1000, 2000, and 4000 μ m, respectively.



A - 4.5 Proportion of potential food sources in the diet of demersal zooplankton in coral habitat – Bise lagoon, Okinawa Islands.

Group 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 denote demersal zooplankton size classes of 73, 100, 250, 500, 1000, 2000, and 4000 μ m, respectively.



A - 4.6 Environment and specific habitats at Bise reef lagoon, Okinawa Island



Seagrass habitat

Coral habitat



Seagrass mixture coral habitat

A - 4.8 Activities in Bise reef lagoon, Okinawa Island

Emergence traps set in each specific habitat in the reef lagoon



Some activities in laboratory



POM and phytoplankton collection

Microphytobenthod collection



Drying samples

Tissues of fishes and other consumer collection



Observe samples under microscope

List of appendices of Chapter 5

A-5.1 Fishes and other consumers collected in Fukido estuary

Family	Ν	Scientific Name	Images
Apogonidae	13	Fibramia amboinens is (Bleeker, 1853)	CM J Z 3 4 5 6 7 8 CM J Z 3 4 5 6 7 8 Drhigohi 3.006 MA - Frih 6.1
Mugilidae	3	Chelon subviridis (Valenciennes, 1836)	I stiph: saw Mg. RK 7.4
Zenarchopteridae	3	Zenarchopterus dunckeri	Ishigabi-3.206 M.t-Field+.1
Siganidae	4	Siganus guttatus (Bloch, 1787)	Idipati 3.2% MG- Fild 1
Gobiidae	5	Asterropteryx semipunctata Rüppell, 1830	Phigabi S. B.VK InG Fib 2.1

Gobiidae	2	Yongeichthys criniger (Valenciennes, 1837)	Ishigaki-3.800 Mar-Fith 8
Gerreidae	3	Gerres oyena (Forsskål, 1775)	minimum initiation initiatio initiation initiatio initiatinitiatio initiatio initiatio initiatio
Lutjanidae	4	<i>Lutjanus</i> sp. (Forsskål, 1775)	genting and any and a genting
Platycephalidae	3	<i>Cociella punctata</i> (Cuvier, 1829)	
Tetraodontidae	2	Tetraodon fluviatilis	
Siganidae	1	Siganus fuscescens (Houttuyn, 1782)	

Scorpaenidae	1	<i>Dendrochirus zebra</i> (Cuvier, 1829)	
Lethrinidae	1	<i>Lethrinus ornatus</i> Valenciennes, 1830	
Diodontidae	1	<i>Diodon holocanthus</i> Linnaeus, 1758	
Crangonidae	3	Sand Shrimp (Crangon septemspinosa)	Cat No. 00:015 Fisher Scientific Company ()
Portunidae	8	Scylla serrata	

Portunidae	6	Charybdis sp.	I No opera Fisher Scientific Company (2)
Grapsidae	3	Eriocheir japonicus	
Calappidae	1	Calapa calapa	
Littorinidae	4	Littoria angulifera	cientific Company
	3	Hermit crab	Cat. No. 09-016 Fisher Scientific Company

A – 5.3 Activities and specific habitats at Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island Mangrove habitat











Lagoon habitat at Fukido Estuary, Ishigaki Island



Demersal zooplankton identification of dominate taxa

1. Polychaeta



2. Copepoda Calanoida

Harpacticoida



Monstrilloida





Cyclopoida

Nauplius of Copepoda



3. Isopoda



4. Ostracoda



5. Amphipoda



6. Cumacea



7. Anomura





9. Brachyura

